Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal 31 (2023) 626-638

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal

journal homepage: www.sciencedirect.com

Relevance of Indian traditional tisanes in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review



^a Amity Herbal Consortium, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida 201313, UP, India

^b Amity Food and Agriculture Foundation, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida 201313, UP, India

^c Regional Centre of Institute of Bioresources and Sustainable Development-Sikkim, (Department of Biotechnology Government of India), 5th mile, Near Metro point, Tadong, Gangtok, Sikkim 737102. India

^d Institute of Bioresources and Sustainable Development, Node Mizoram A-1, C/o P. Lalthangzauva Building, Chawnga Road, Nursery Veng, Aizawl 796005, Mizoram, India ^e Division of Agricultural Chemicals, Indian Agricultural Research Institute (ICAR), Pusa Campus, New Delhi 110 012, India

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 24 November 2022 Accepted 1 March 2023 Available online 8 March 2023

Keywords: Tisane Oxidative stress Biotic and abiotic factors Diabetes mellitus Protective mechanism Synergistic combination

ABSTRACT

Background: Tisanes are a potential source of phytochemicals to reduce disease risk conditions and are used to protect from non-communicable diseases, globally. A few tisanes have gained more popularity than others depending on their chemical composition based on the geographical origin of the used herb. Several Indian tisanes have been claimed to have traits beneficial to people with or at a high risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Under the concept, the literature was reviewed and compiled into a document to highlight the chemical uniqueness of popular Indian traditional tisanes to be more informative and potent as per modern medicine to overcome type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Methods: An extensive literature survey was conducted using computerized database search engines, such as Google Scholar, PubMed, ScienceDirect, and EMBASE (Excerpta Medica database) for herbs that have been described for hyperglycemia, and involved reaction mechanism, in-vivo studies as well as clinical efficacies published since 2001 onwards using certain keywords. Compiled survey data used to make this review and all findings on Indian traditional antidiabetic tisanes are tabulated here.

Results: Tisanes render oxidative stress, counter the damage by overexposure of free radicals to the body, affect enzymatic activities, enhance insulin secretion, etc. The active molecules of tisanes also act as antiallergic, antibacterial, anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, antithrombotic, antiviral, antimutagenicity, anticarcinogenicity, antiaging effects, etc. WHO also has a strategy to capitalize on the use of herbals to keep populations healthy through effective and affordable alternative means with robust quality assurance and strict adherence to the product specification.

Crown Copyright © 2023 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	627		
2.	. Materials and methods			
3.	. Results and discussion			
	3.1. A look for synergistic formulations	629		
	3.2. Standardized specification	633		
4.	Conclusions	633		

* Corresponding author at: Amity Herbal Consortium, Sector-125, J-1 Block, LG Room No. 14, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Noida 201313, UP, India. *E-mail addresses:* ddjoshi14@hotmail.com, ddjoshi@amity.edu (D.D. Joshi).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.

ELSEVIER Production and hosting by Elsevier

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2023.03.003

1319-0164/Crown Copyright © 2023 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).



Review





Funding	633
Ethical approval	634
Informed consent	634
Declaration of Competing Interest	634
Acknowledgements	634
References	634

1. Introduction

Tisanes have long since been used in many traditional medicinal systems to reduce the burden of diseases (Tandon and Yaday, 2017; Ritch-Krc et al., 1996; Yang et al., 2004; McKay and Blumberg, 2006; Gohil et al., 2010; Ponnachan et al., 1993; Sachdewa et al., 2001). There are several kinds of tisanes (infusions/decoctions), which are consumed for energizing and reducing tension and anxiety. to curb gastrointestinal problems, and boost the body's immunity (Aoshima et al., 2007; Ravikumar, 2014). Some of these tisanes possess extremely strong medicinal benefits that are used to treat inflammations, bacterial, and viral infections, and even help patients living with HIV and AIDS (Baba et al., 2009), so researchers are exploring and vouching for different tisanes from time to time. A few tisanes have gained more popularity depending on their geo-climatic origin, and currently are globally available international health products, as (Chandrasekara and Shahidi, 2018). Tisanes are rich sources of diverse therapeutic chemical classes such as alkaloids, carotenoids, coumarins, flavonoids, phenolic acids, polyacetylenes, saponins, terpenoids, etc., but at certain concentrations, these compounds will cause high toxicity to the human body. Maybe the maximum concentration acceptable to the human body due to the potent biological effects, such as anti-allergic, antibacterial, antiinflammatory, antioxidant, antiviral, antithrombotic, and vasodilatory action, along with antimutagenicity, anti-carcinogenicity and antiaging effects (Craig, 1999; Mckay and Blumberg, 2002; Wargovichi et al., 2001). Clinical trials employing putative intermediary indicators of diabetes, particularly type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), biomarkers of oxidative stress status, and the use of Indian traditional tisanes reveal that antioxidant and antiinflammatory properties of tisanes play a role in lowering the blood glucose level (Craig, 1999).

Blood glucose level is a clinical measurement to estimate the effectiveness and overall prediction for both Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes (Kamusheva et al., 2021). The higher levels of blood glucose are a result of abnormal metabolic disorders developed by alteration in the natural route of using carbohydrates, lipids, and protein in the body (Lin and Sun, 2009). T2DM is a multifactorial disease developed by obesity, especially increased visceral fat, via the enhancement of inflammation and hypoadiponectinemia due to lifestyle patterns and various types of air pollutants. (Meo et al., 2015). The abnormal range of blood glucose content is a major cause of morbidity and mortality, globally (Guariguata et al., 2014; Du et al., 2012).

Currently, allopathic drugs are used as an oral hypoglycemic agent to control T2DM, but associated complications of diabetes, limited tolerability, higher cost of allopathic drugs, and other severe side effects shift the common people to the Indian system of medicine (IMS) in India (Parasuraman et al., 2014), more specifically to tisanes due to their intrinsically safe, cost-effective, and fewer side effects, if any (Prabhakar et al., 2014).

Several investigations have revealed that changes in routine lifestyle and diet at any time in life can improve metabolic, cognitive, and vascular health resulting in a reduced burden of diseases (Calder et al., 2018). Tisanes have long since been in practice in India and other indigenous medical systems, globally to maintain the normal body glucose blood level, and treat T2DM (Castellanos-Jiménez et al., 2022; Abu-Odeh and Talib, 2021; Willcox et al., 2021; Poswal et al., 2019; Covington, 2001; Yaniv et al., 1987). It is stated that up to 72.8% of people with diabetes used herbal medicine (Gupta et al., 2017). Tisanes are brewed either as a decoction or an infusion and drank for therapeutic benefits (Poswal et al., 2019). There has been an apparent upsurge in the popularity of tisanes (Sun et al., 2021; Khan and Mukhtar, 2013) to manage many chronic diseases including T2DM (Builders, 2019). There is a rapidly expanding market for a wellness tisane characterized for managing chronic diseases including diabetes (Byeon and Han, 2004; Park et al., 2014; Cohen and Ernst 2010). World Health Organization (WHO) also supports the use of traditional medicines as healthcare choices more particularly to coherent with cultural practices in different societies (World Health Organization., 2013).

Epidemiological investigations have depicted that the consumption of tisanes is inversely proportional to the risk of T2DM and its complications via several mechanisms, including the activation of the insulin signaling pathway, ameliorating insulin resistance, decreasing inflammation, enhancing insulin action, protecting islet β -cells, and scavenging free radicals. The main objective of the present article is to highlight the chemical uniqueness of popular Indian traditional tisane and ignite innovative minds to develop more potent synergistic herbal combinations to overcome the current scenario of T2DM. Value addition on the existing tisanes with defined health promoting properties, fingerprints developed by validated methods, and evidence for biological properties are necessary to increase the willingness to consume these products by customers. A compiled information on popular Indian traditional tisanes for their chemical uniqueness and therapeutic applications to overcome T2DM as per modern medicine is the sole target of the present article.

2. Materials and methods

A literature search was conducted using computerized database search engines, such as Google Scholar, PubMed, ScienceDirect, and EMBASE (Excerpta Medica database) for herbs that have been described for hyperglycemia, and involved reaction mechanism, in-vivo studies as well as clinical efficacies those published since 2001 to the most recent year. The target was to collect published data in the last 20 years on the folk/traditional medicinal plants used to treat and manage the deadly T2DM disease. The search terms used were "diabetes and plants", "Indian traditional plants to diabetes", "medicinal and aromatic plants for diabetes", "anti-hyperglycemic plants", and "anti-diabetic pathways". Based on the above concept an extensive literature search was carried out, and references to relevant publications were searched. The selected 457 research articles were manually entered in MS Office-7 Word software, and screened for terms like "beverage", "infusion", "decoction", "tea", "cold water extract", and "hot water extract". Data were extracted from each selection, and duplicate records were removed using an available option in MS Office -7 Word software. Details of a total of 85

selected articles as the author, study design (Ayurvedic/Homeo pathic/Unani/Siddha/Folk, and botanical/ local names), intervention applied (dose/volume of tisane recommended), conditions (time duration, used temperature to brew), health outcomes, data analysis, and remarks were collected. The selected studies were either an intervention for clinical validation or a part to protect physical and mental health using tisanes.

All the selected articles on tisanes were discussed after two rounds of screening to gather data on full bibliography, URL; study identifier (authors and year of publication); used methods, and abbreviations, details on participants and interventions.

3. Results and discussion

Ancient Indian Ayurvedic textbooks, Charaka and Sushruta have detailed discussions of herbal medicines for the prevention and curing of diabetes mellitus (Kashikar and Kotkar, 2011). Plants always have been a valuable source of medicine, globally and even many allopathic medicines have been of herbal origin (Jasmin et al., 2018). Phytochemical screening of herbals as antidiabetics reveals their richness in polyphenols, terpenoids, tannins, and saponins, either alone or with one other /each another, which affect the various metabolic channels and finally impact the blood glucose level in the human body (Zhang and Reddy, 2018).

In folk, about 800 plants are used to manage diabetes mellitus, but only 410 have been experimentally studied for their antidiabetic properties, though molecular mechanism has been depicted for only 109 plants (Prabhakar and Doble, 2008). The use of herbals to treat diabetes is health-friendly and does not cause severe side effects, though these herbs act by different biomechanism and protect the β -cells, induce insulin sensitivity during the diabetic condition and reduce the elevated blood glucose level to the normal in the blood (Jeeva and Sheebha, 2014).

In tisanes, the active ingredient used for blood glucose management varies with the species selected, but alkaloids, flavonoids, and phenolics are the most common chemical classes (Ajuwon et al., 2018). These compounds inhibit α -glucosidase and other pathways (Vuong, 2014) with anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects. Habitual tea drinking had been reported the reduced incidences of T2DM and serum glucose levels in diabetic patients (Li et al., 2016; Nguyen et al., 2018), though green tea drinking with hypoglycemic activity has been reported for a better therapeutic effect than common teas on T2DM patients (Yu et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2018).

Tisanes exhibit multiple biological activities due to diverse chemical constituents, multi-targets, and multi-pathways for biological impact (El-Tantawy and Temraz, 2018), and can have either direct the rapeutic action to repairing the damaged β -cells and enhance the insulin sensitivity or potentially prevent diabetesrelated complications (Zhang et al., 2015; Ota and Ulrih, 2017). Tisanes, because of the dual characteristics of medicine and nutraceuticals, are popular as convenient and effective beverages among people conscious the health also (Chandrasekara and Shahidi, 2018; Zhao et al., 2013). Like green tea, tisanes may be packed in bags after rigorous quality assurance and brewed in boiling water, because bioactive compounds may vary as per harvest period, and agro-geo-climatic conditions for the same plant part (Ajuwon et al., 2018). Animal experimental studies have also depicted that tisanes are effective to cure T2DM through antiinflammatory and antioxidant mechanisms, and inhibit the activities of α -glucosidase, α -amylase, and other pathways (Studzinska-Sroka et al., 2021). Tisanes fulfil the external requirement of antioxidants to the natural body defines system to overcome overexposure to highly reactive free radicals including the oxygenated metabolic by-products, and finally, improve the body's immunity, and minimize oxidative stress (Cabrera et al., 2006).

The pathophysiology of diabetes deciphers to free radicals as the main cause of complications related to T2DM (Ramachandran et al., 2002; Matteucci and Giampietro, 2000; Oberlay, 1988; Niedowicz and Daleke, 2005; Lipinski, 2001). Free radicals damage the cellular matrix including DNA, proteins, and lipids resulting to change in cellular functions. Antioxidants neutralize free radicals effectively and prevent induced diabetes in animal models (Kubish et al., 1997; Naziroglu and Cay, 2001) along with a reduction in the severity of its complications (Lipinski, 2001). In an elevated blood glucose patient, the extra-cellular matrix and long-lived proteins are the main targets of free radicals. Long-lived proteins in elevated blood glucose levels change into glycoproteins in presence of free radicals and develop T2DM-associated complications such as atherosclerosis, cataracts, microangiopathy, and nephropathy (Glugliano et al., 1996). However, rutin, a flavonoid, is reported to reduce blood glucose levels in diabetics by inhibiting α -glucosidases and α amylase enzymes, which are responsible for the digestion of carbohydrates and absorption of glucose. Further, rutin stimulates β-cells to insulin secretion, enhanced glucose utilisation (Fig. 1), and the rate of gluconeogenesis in the body (Ghorbani, 2017). Boiling of herbs increases the availability of antioxidants and iron (Yang et al., 2006), consequently, more bioavailability of these ingredients in tisanes, compared to the other forms of ingestion of herbs, resulted in comparatively more improved body immunity is another benefit of using tisanes to overcome T2DM.

Free radicals oxidize lipoproteins into very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), low-density lipoprotein (LDL), and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) in a hyperglycemic stage. The oxidative stress promotes lipid peroxidation by non-enzymatic glycosylation of proteins into AGEs (advances glycation end products), which accumulate in the long-lived molecules of tissues and develops abnormal functions in cells and finally impact the whole tissues (Brownlee, 1996; Elgawish et al., 1996). AGEs contribute to increased vascular permeability which binds to the specific macrophage receptor in both micro and macrovascular structures, resulting in the generation of free radicals and endothelial malfunction including mutations and altered gene expression. Although several allopathic therapies are in use to treat diabetes, limitations are to the high cost, severe side effects including gastrointestinal disturbances, the problem of hypoglycemic liver toxicity and increased body weight, etc. (Dey et al., 2002), the major disorder of urban life of the current time, so tisanes are being preferred (Table 1) rapidly for antidiabetic and antioxidant therapy.

Herbals are preferred over synthetic drugs to treat diabetes due to their multi-target, multi-ingredient, and multi-functional pathways (El-Tantawy and Temraz, 2018) for therapeutic action, reviving the damaged β-cells, improvement in insulin sensitivity, enhancing insulin secretion, and potentially prevent T2DM related complications (Zhang et al., 2015; Ota and Ulrih, 2017). Different cohort studies in different countries with different ages, genders, and races (Li et al., 2016) reveal that the consumption of Camellia sinensis tea (common tea) has different sensitivities in different ethnic groups due to inconsistent specification and lack of standardized procedure to prepare the C. sinensis tea (Yu et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2014). Herbals that are rich in tannins as apple, blueberry, cinnamon, grape seed/-peel, neem, pomegranate peel, and sorghum have a potent anti-diabetic effect (Munyangi et al., 2020), whereas juices from fruits apples, blueberry, grape, and pomegranate do not have tannins so barely have any glycemic impact (Muraki and Imamura, 2013). Polysaccharides inhibit the absorption of glucose in the intestine and alleviate β -cell dysfunctions (Wang et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2016). Herbs rich in minerals improve glycemic control in T2DM patients (Suksomboon et al., 2011).

Diabetic patients in South and Central America eat one leaf of Costus igneus Nak. (Insulin plant) to keep their blood glucose low (Devi and Urooj, 2008; Elavarasi and Saravanan, 2012)



Mechanism of action of rutin in diabetic pathophysiology

Fig. 1. Flow chart showing mechanism of action of rutin. Rutin enhanced insulin secretion by stimulating β -beta cells and facilitated tyrosine phosphorylation for translocation of GLUT-4 and glucose which subsequently join in the electron transport chain to produce ATP (energy). The intake of carbohydrates in food is converted to disaccharides by the enzyme α -amylase and then disaccharides are reduced to monosaccharides by the enzyme α -glucosidase. Subsequently, monosaccharides get absorbed in the body in the small intestine and enter into blood circulation which caused elevation of postprandial blood glucose level. Rutin inhibited both α -amylase and α -glucosidase enzyme activity and reduced blood glucose levels.

like A. marmelos (Farooq, 2005), A. indica (Dholi et al., 2011; Jalil et al., 2013), etc. in India. Tisanes have been acclaimed for their therapeutic properties in the ISM (Indian system of medicine) but have not been evaluated for the anti-diabetic mechanism of action at the time (Sharma and Arya, 2011).

3.1. A look for synergistic formulations

A synergistic mixture of herbals as an anti-diabetic tisane has been reported by Dhaliwal (1999) which deciphers (–) epicatechin, gymnemic acids, and C. tamala leaves along with other plant parts to regenerate the pancreas cells and revive their ability to produce insulin. Finally, its application was discontinued after the restoration of normal pancreatic functions. Similarly, a post-validated value-added tisane is projected by substituting more enriched other parts of the same plant species as in the case of Z. officinale. Leaves of Z. officinale can be replaced by their rhizomes, to combat oxidative stress more effectively, as rhizomes have higher antioxidant potential compared to leaves (Ismaeel and Usman, 2021). The higher antioxidant potential of tisane effectively strengthens the body's immune system (Jakobek et al., 2007; Kulling and Rawel, 2008).

A traditional Indian tisane used against T2DM may be enriched with the stem bark of Viburnum opulus L. (cramp back), a localized herb in certain specific zones only, to combat additionally the monthly rhythm problem of women along T2DM. Fruits and stem barks of V. opulus are rich in phenolics (chlorogenic, gallic, and ferulic acids, etc.), flavanols (catechin, epicatechin, procyanidin, etc.), flavonols (quercetin and isorhamnetin glycosides, etc.), and anthocyanins (cyanidin 3-glucoside, cyanidin 3-arabinosyl-glucoside, cyanidin 3-rutinoside, and cyanidin 3-sambubioside, etc.) (Perova et al., 2014; Polka and Podsedek, 2019; Kraujalyte et al., 2012; Kraujalyte et al., 2013; Ozrenk et al., 2011; Polka et al., 2019). Additionally, barks of V. opulus are richer than fruits about three times, seven times, and more than six times in terms of the total phenolics, flavanols, and pro-anthocyanidins, respectively (Polka et al., 2019; Wojcik-Bojek et al., 2021). Traditionally, V. opulus plant bark is used to treat cramps, particularly menstrual cramps (Anonymous, 2022). The fruit extract is also used to relax muscles and blood vessels, which can relieve pain, and reduce blood pressure, though there is no valid scientific evidence to support the traditional claims (Nicholson et al., 1972). Detailed scientific studies on these properties of the bark of V. opulus may additionally benefit the consumers using it as a new value-added tisane after proper safety studies.

Similarly, the use of Pyrus pashia leaves, a source of an adequate number of bioactive compounds (amygdalin, chlorogenic acids, flavan-3-ols, pectin, phlorhizin, tannins, etc.) (Nassar et al., 2011; Arya et al., 2011) may be mixed with a traditional tisane. The proposed tisane is supposed to enhance the efficacy at many folds to control the elevated blood glucose level during the validation stage before human consumption.

M. indica leaves have been reported as an α -glucosidase inhibitor (Anonymous, 2022). Clinical validation of a standardized synergistic formulation of *M. indica* leaves with an herb reported for α -amylase inhibition activity (Adisakwattana et al., 2011; Eruygur and Dural, 2019) to benefit both types of inhibition together by using a single cup of tisane is an urgent call of the time to overcome deadly T2DM.

The ripened berries S. nigrum are rich in alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, saponins, tannins, terpenoids, acetic compounds, and resin (Umamageswari et al., 2017). A single dose of aqueous extract of S. nigrum ripened berries at 2000 mg/kg has no mortality, and

Table 1

The summarized applicability of common Indian tisanes used to lower the blood glucose level.

S	Used plant	Traditional/folk procedure	Biological action	
110.	species		Active ingredients	Molecular interactions, and impacts
1	Aegle marmelos (L) Correa Fam.: Rutaceae Local name: Bel, Bilva	Water extract from leaves is used to treat diabetic patients (Dixit, 2014). Leaves and young shoots are eaten to reduce appetite (Farooq, 2005), and leaf juice is used to cure diabetes (Saxena and Vikram, 2004).	Leaves of A. marmalos have β -sitosterol, γ - sitosterol, rutin, lupeol, aegelin, marmesinin, flavone, glycoside, marmeline, phenylethyl cinnamamides (Yadav and Chanotia, 2009), and minerals (Singh et al., 2012).	Oral use of an aqueous extract of bel leaves reduces blood glucose levels and serum cholesterol. Leaves are reported for a 1-hour delay in peak rise of blood glucose level during the glucose tolerant test in alloxanized rats (Karunanyake et al., 1984). Phenylethyl cinnamamides present in leaves have been reported as α -glucosi- dase inhibitors, and have IC ₅₀ = 35.8 μ M, (Phuwapraisirisan et al., 2008).
2	Azadirachta indica L. Fam.: Meliaceae Local name: Neem	Leaves aqueous extract or powder is used to cure and control diabetics. Five fresh leaves are used in the morning on an empty stomach to treat diabetes (Dholi et al., 2011). In Ayurveda, 15 ml water extract of leaves is given once a day on empty stom- ach continuously for one month to treat T2DM (Jalil et al., 2013).	Volatile compounds (glycolic acid, hydroxy pivalic acid, phytol, germanicol, etc), alkaloids, and saponins have been reported in the neem leaves (Prashanth and Krishnaiah, 2014) as the main ingredients.	A randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled clinical study of those who have already been on standard metformin therapy reveals that standardized aqueous extract of leaves and twigs of <i>A. indica</i> has the potential to significantly reduce the blood sugar level, improve vascular health, and minimize systemic inflammation related to T2DM, and has proven as an orally non-toxic agent (Usharani et al., 2020).
3	Bacopa monnieri L. Fam.: Scrophulariaceae Local name: Brahmi	Water extract of the whole plant is given to the diabetic patient as a continuous dose for 15 to 30 days twice a day, to control blood sugar level (Sabu and Kuttan, 2002).	Bacosine has been deciphered for significantly reducing the elevated blood glucose level to the normal range (Tan et al., 2008).	Bacosine has been reported for insulin-like properties. Ethanolic extract of the aerial parts of <i>B. monnieri</i> prevents the elevation of glycosylated hemoglobin ($IC_{50} = 11.25 \ \mu g/ml$) and is comparable to α - tocopherol in the consumption of peripheral glucose as well as protection against oxidative damage in alloxanized diabetic rodents (Ghosh et al., 2011).
4	Caesalpinia bonduc (L.) Roxb. Fam.: Caesalpiniaceae Local name: Bonduc nut /Nicker nut	C. bonduc seeds are used by tribal people of coastal regions of India for controlling blood sugar (Modak et al., 2007).	Fatty oils (20–24 %, mainly stearic, palmitic, oleic, lignoceric, linolenic, etc.), amino acids (aspartic acid, lysine, glycine, leucine, histidine, isoleucine, serine, tyrosine, glutamic acid, threonine, arginine, proline, L-alanine, methionine, and phenyl alanine), bonducellin, caesalpin, and ononitol have been reported in C. bonduc seeds (Ravikanth et al., 2014).	The aqueous, and 50% ethanolic extracts of seeds have been reported as a potent hypoglycemic effect in streptozotocin- diabetic rats (Sharma et al., 1997), due to the blocking of glucose absorption (Chakrabarti et al., 2003).
5	<i>Cajanus cajan L.</i> Fam.: Fabaceae Local Name: Arahar	The cold-water extract of tender leaves of <i>C. cajan</i> is used by traditional healers to control blood sugar levels. In Ayurveda, the hot water extract of leaves and seeds is used to treat diabetics (Grover et al., 2002).	Clerodane-type diterpenes, resins, and saponins (Adaobi C. Ezike et al., 2010; Farias et al., 1997; Maciel et al., 2000), and tannins (Marles and Farnsworth, 1995) are the major anti-diabetic ingredients.	Methanolic extract of leaves (LD ₅₀ > 5 g/kg) in alloxan-diabetic and oral glucose-loaded rats have been reported to suppress the escalation of blood glucose levels after eating high-glucose food. The maximum suppression has been reported at 60 min, thus useful to suppress and control postprandial hyperglycemia (Ezike et al., 2010).
6	Cinnamomum tamala Nees & Eberm. Fam.: Lauraceae Local name: Tejpat	Two teaspoonfuls of warm water extract of <i>C. tamala</i> leaves, four times a day, are prescribed for a month to control the elevated blood sugar level by traditional healers (Jayakumar et al., 2010).	Leaves of <i>C. tamala</i> have been reported for 127 volatile compounds (Prasad et al., 2009), kaempferol, quercetin (Mishra et al., 2010), alkaloids, terpenoids, tannins, and saponins (Chakraborty and Das, 2010).	95% ethanol extract of <i>C. tamala</i> leaves (200 mg/kg) maintains the insulin release from the healthy β -cells and recovers glucose tolerance by more secretion of insulin in streptozotocin-diabetic rats (Bisht and Sisodia, 2011).
7	Cinnamomum verum L. Fam.: Lauraceae Local name: Cinnamon	1.2 gm powder of the dried bark is taken in 100 ml hot water (95 °C for 3 min), filtered, and the infusion is used to treat diabetes (Islam et al., 2020).	β -carotene, phenolics, and flavonoids are the main bio-active ingredients (Islam et al., 2020).	The oral administration of bark powder of <i>C. verum</i> has anti-diabetic properties (Adisakwattana et al., 2011). It reduces the blood glucose level in animal models and humans (Medagama, 2015).
8	Ficus religiosa L. Fam.: Moraceae Local name: Pipal	The bark of <i>F. religiosa</i> is used orally for 21 days, and significantly reduces elevated blood glucose levels (Agnivesha, 2001; Deshmukh et al., 2007; Bouche et al., 2004; Grover et al., 2002).	Bergapten and bergaptol, along flavonoids, tannins, saponins, sterols, and sitosterol-d- glucoside are the main therapeutic ingredients of <i>F. religiosa</i> bark (Chandrasekar et al., 2010; Swami and Bisht, 1996).	Aqueous extract of bark (500 mg/kg) has been reported to reduce elevated blood glucose levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Gayathri and Kannabiran, 2008). It regulates the enzymatic functions of the defense system to combat oxidative stress, restore glutathione, and inhibits malondialdehyde content (Kirana et al., 2009).

Table 1 (continued)

S No.	Used plant species	Traditional/folk procedure	Biological action	
	species		Active ingredients	Molecular interactions, and impacts
9	<i>Garcinia padunculata</i> Roxb. Fam.: Clusiaceae Local name: Borthekera	The sliced and sun-dried fruits are boiled in water and the extract is given to diabetic patients (Hazarika et al., 2020; Pari and Saravanan, 2004; Hakim et al., 1997).	Cambogin, flavonoids, HCA (-hydroxy citric acid), polyphenols, and garcinol are bioactive ingredients (Bhattacharjee and Devi, 2021).	Traditional claims and beliefs about its anti- diabetic properties, molecular mechanism, and pharmacological mode of action are not clear over time (Bhattacharjee and Devi, 2021).
10	Gymnema sylvestre (Retz.) R.Br. ex Sm. Fam.: Asclepiadaceae Local name: Gudmar	The infusion of dried leaves in equal quantity with <i>Ocimum sanctum</i> leaves is administered twice a day to treat diabetes (Hazarika et al., 2020). Aqueous decoction of leaves and stems is used for lowering the blood sugar level of diabetics for nearly two thousand years (Hazarika et al., 2020; Singh et al., 2008; Tiwari et al., 2014)	A group of triterpene saponins (i. e. gymnemic acids, e. g. gymnemic acids I–VII, gymnemasides A–F) have been reported for the pharmacological properties to manage blood sugar levels (Kanetkar et al., 2007; Gaonkar and Hullatti, 2020)	Methanol extract from leaves has antidiabetic activity due to the stimulation of insulin secretion from the pancreas and the delaying glucose absorption in streptozotocin-induced mice. Gymnemic acids (GAs) get attached to the external receptor in the intestine, thereby preventing the absorption of sugar molecules (Kanetkar et al., 2007). GA IV is effective in the regeneration of pancreatic β -cells (Sugihara et al., 2000) and GA IV- induced smearing of G ₃ PDH (glycerol-3- phosphate dehydrogenase) inhibits the activities of α -glucosidase (Ishijima et al., 2008).
11	Ipomoea aquatica Forssk. Fam.: Convalvulaceae Local name: Water spinach	Fresh tender shoots water extract of <i>I. aquatica</i> is recommended after food to control blood sugar levels in folklore (Hazarika et al., 2020).	β -carotene (298 µg), vitamins, and minerals (6.92 %), have been reported as the main ingredients of the fresh leaves of the species (Verma et al., 2016).	<i>I. aquatica</i> plant (3.4 g/kg) administrated for one week inhibits the absorption of glucose in streptozotocin-induced rats, and a single dose to type 2 diabetic patients. The serum glucose level of diabetic patients reduced by 29.4% after 2 hrs. of a single dose (Malalavidhane et al., 2003).
12	Mangifera indica L. Fam.: Anacardiaceae Local name: Mango	The hot infusion of leaves is served just 60 min before the food to lower the elevated blood glucose level (Aderibigbe et al., 1999).	The main bioactive compounds are ascorbic acid, flavonoids, benzophenones, mangiferin, phenolic acids, carotenoids, quercetin, isoquercetin, and tocopherols (Ribeiro and Schieber, 2010; Lauricella et al., 2017; Masud Parvez, 2016; Kabir et al., 2017; Ali et al., 2020).	The infusion of leaves inhibits intestinal glucose absorption in streptozotocin- induced rats due to α -glucosidase inhibition (Aderibigbe et al., 1999). Different com- pounds from mango leaves have demon- strated their anti-diabetic potential (Asmat et al., 2016). Mangiferin is a main bioactive of leaves and inhibits the activities of α - glucosidase (Singh et al. 2004)
13	Momordica charantia L. Fam.: Cucurbitaceae Local name: Karela	One cup of juice from fresh fruits is used to cure diabetes, traditionally (Hazarika et al., 2020).	Charantin, vicine, and triterpenoids along with some antioxidant compounds are characterized by anti-diabetic properties (Krawinkel and Keding, 2006).	Fruits and leaves repair the β -cells and stimulate insulin secretion (Chaturvedi, 2012) and improve insulin sensitivity /- signaling (Wang et al., 2011). The aqueous extract of <i>M. charantia</i> inhibits the α -glu- cosidase activities and suppresses disac- charidases functions in the intestine of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Abdollahi et al., 2011: Chaturvedi, 2012).
14	Moringa oleifera Lam. Fam.: Moringaceae Local name: Sainiana	The dry seed powder is taken with water to control blood glucose levels (Hazarika et al., 2020).	Phenolic (gallic, caffeic, vanillic, ferulic) acids, flavonoids (apigenin and naringenin), tocopherols, and β -sitosterol are the main ingredients (Gharsallah et al., 2021).	Several phytopharmacological studies have been reported on the antidiabetic potential of pods, seeds, and leaves of <i>M. oleifera</i> (Jaiswal et al., 2009; Al-Malki, and El-Rabey, 2015: Une. 2014)
15	Morus alba L. Fam.: Moraceae Local name: Sahtut	Water extract from tender leaves is prescribed by traditional healers to maintain the glucose level (Hazarika et al., 2020).	Leaves are rich in β -carotene, ascorbic acid, protein, carbohydrates, crude fiber, and vitamins (Srivastava et al., 2006), and macro-elements (Sanchez-Salcedo et al., 2017; Jiang and Nie, W.J. 2015).	<i>M. alba</i> leaves ethanol extract has been reported as a potent inhibitor of α -glucosidase and α -amylase enzymes, respectively by <i>in-vitro</i> method (Eruygur et al., 2019; Jha et al., 2018). Leaves have been reported as a low-sodium diet item (Sánchez-Salcedo et al., 2017; Jiang and Nie, W.], 2015).
16	<i>Ocimum sanctum</i> L. Fam.: Lamiaceae Local name: Tulsi	O. sanctum is documented and used in Ayurveda to maintain the normal blood glucose level in the body (Khan et al., 2012).	Apigenin, flavonoids, saponins, tannins, vicenin, triterpenoids, rosmarinic acid, minerals, vitamins, etc., are present in O. sanctum (Rizvi and Mishra, 2013).	Water extract from leaves of <i>O. sanctum</i> significantly reduces elevated blood glucose levels in normal, and alloxan-induced diabetic rats, respectively (Vats et al., 2002).
17	Phyllanthus niruri L. Fam.: Euphorbiaceae Local name: Bhumi amla	Traditionally the whole plant is used to normalize the body's blood glucose level (Patel et al., 2012).	It has phyllanthin, chlorogenic acid, anthocyanins, coumarins, flavonoids, lignans, phenolic acids, saponins, tannins, glycosidic substitutes, alkaloids, and terpenoids (Bagalkotkar et al., 2006).	Pharmacological investigations on the aqueous extract of <i>P. niruri</i> have deciphered that the plant has potent antioxidant activity and reduces the elevated blood glucose level in alloxanized diabetic rats (Raphael et al., 2002) but the mechanical action of <i>P. niruri</i> in treating diabetes is still not clear (Mediani et al., 2016).

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)

S	Used plant	Traditional/folk procedure	Biological action	
I NO.	species		Active ingredients	Molecular interactions, and impacts
18	Psidium guajava L. Fam.: Myrtyaceae Local name: Amrud/ Gauva	Hot water extract from tender leaves is used to normalize the elevated blood glucose level (Hazarika et al., 2020; Deguchi and Miyazaki, 2010). Consecutive ingestion of its infusion together with every meal improves hypertriglyceridemia and hyper- cholesterolemia (Asano et al., 2007).	Leaves have oleanolic acid, limonene caryophyllene, and volatile compounds (α - pinene, limonene, β -pinene, isopropyl alcohol, menthol, acetate, caryophyllene, and β -bisabolene) (Begum et al., 2004; Ogunwande et al., 2003; Taylor et al., 2001; Fu et al., 2010). Quercetin is the main compound (Nantitanon and Okonogi, 2012; Soman et al., 2010).	Oral administration of the ethanol extract of <i>P. guajava</i> leaves has a blood glucose- lowering effect in alloxan-induced hyperglycemic rats (Sharma et al., 2005). The consecutive ingestion of its infusion with every meal for 12 weeks has been reported effective in 15 male subjects with prediabetes and mild type 2 diabetic mod- els without any side effects (Deguchi et al., 2000), and hyperglycemic control is sup- posed due to the α-glucosidase inhibition
19	Saraca asoca (Roxb.) Wild. Fam.: Leguminosae Local name: Asoca	The infusion of flowers is used to treat diabetes. Flowers are used in Ayurvedic, Unani, and Siddha medicines to treat diabetes (Hazarika et al., 2020; Mishra and Vijayakumar, 2014).	Tannins, proteins, steroids, glycosides, carbohydrates, saponins, and flavonoids are the main active ingredient of <i>S. asoca</i> flowers (Saha et al., 2012).	process (ochiai et al., 2008). 50% ethanolic extract of <i>S. asoca</i> flowers (200 mg/kg body weight/day) has been proven as anti-hyperglycemic in streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced diabetic rats (Mishra and Vijayakumar, 2014)
20	Solanum nigrum L. Fam.: Solanaceae Local name: Black nightshade	Decoction of tender shoot tip with leaves is given before meals to control elevated blood sugar levels and advised to consume daily or frequently as natural food for streamlining diabetes (Dasgupta et al., 2016).	Nigrumin I, Nigrumin II (saponins) have been reported for probable antihyperglycemic properties (Aali et al., 2010; Maniyar et al., 2012). Berries are rich in saponins and flavonoids (Umamageswari et al., 2017).	Aqueous extract from leaves (Maniyar et al., 2012), and berries (Aali, et al., 2010) sig- nificantly reduces the fasting blood glucose level in Alloxan-induced diabetic rats. The antihyperglycemic activity of berries might be due to the presence of saponins and flavonoids (Aali, et al., 2010).
21	Swertia chirayita (Roxb. ex Fleming) H. Karst. Fam.: Gentianaceae Local name: Chirayta	The hot infusion of the whole plant is used to control elevated blood sugar in diabetic patients. It is given twice a day before food for a minimum of 15 days (Hazarika et al., 2020; Arya et al., 2011).	Chiratin, ophelic, palmitic, oleic, and stearic acids have been reported for antihyperglycemic properties (Pant et al., 2000; Patil et al., 2013).	Phytopharmacological studies have validated the traditional applications of <i>S.</i> <i>chirayita</i> . Its infusions and tinctures are also used in American and British pharmacopeia to treat diabetes (Joshi and Dhawan, 2005).
22	Syzygium cumini (L.) Skeels ver. Eugenia jambolana Lam. Fam.: Myrtaceae Local name: Jamun	The decoction of its kernels is applied as a household remedy for diabetes (Helmstadter, 2008; Giri et al., 1985). The hot water brew of its seeds has been used to treat T2DM (Baliga et al., 2013).	Fruits are rich in ellagic acid, isoquercetin, kaempferol, jamboline, jambosine, myricetin, hydrolysable tannins (1–0-galloyl castalagin, and casuarinin) (Ayyanar and Subash-Babu, 2012).	The oral administration of whole seed extract is reported to increase serum insulin levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats and inhibit the activity of insulinase (Acherekar et al., 1995; Yadav et al., 1997). Jamboline and jambosine have been re- ported to reduce the rate of diastatic con- version of starch into sugar (Ayyanar and Subach 2012; Mortan 1997)
23	<i>Terminalia chebula</i> Retz Fam.: Combretaceae Local name: Harad	A warm water infusion of ripened fruit or dried fruit pulp is given to treat and control the blood glucose level with a single dose continuously for 30 days (Rao and Srinivas, 2006).	Phenolic acids, flavonoids, tannins, and vitamin C are the main therapeutic ingredients of <i>T. chebula</i> fruits (Nigam et al., 2020).	Water extract of <i>T. chebula</i> fruit is comparable with glibenclamide, a well- known hypoglycemic drug for reducing elevated blood glucose levels in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Senthi Kumar et al. 2006)
24	Tinospora cardifolia (Wild) Hook. f. & Thomson Fam.: Menispermaceae Local name: Giloy	<i>T. cordifolia</i> is a potent herb to combat diabetes in ISM and is used in many Ayurvedic formulations (Khare, 2008).	<i>T. cordifolia</i> alkaloids (berberine, palmatine, tembetarine, magnoflorine, tinosporin and its glycosides) are the main anti-diabetic ingredient (Khare, 2008; Singh et al., 2003; Parveen et al., 2020). Glycosides, steroids diterpenoid, sesquiterpenoid, phenolics, proteins, etc. also have been reported in the species (Singh et al., 2003).	The hypoglycemic action of <i>T. cordifolia</i> is assumed by α -glucosidase inhibition and glycolysis. (Chougale et al., 2009; Joladarashi et al., 2014). Methanolic extract of <i>T. cordifolia</i> , an alkaloidal rich fraction is reported for insulin-releasing, insulin-sen- sitizing, and inhibition of gluconeogenesis in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. (Patel and Mishra, 2011; Rajalakshmi and Roy, 2016).
25	Trigonella foenium graecum L. Fam.: Leguminosae Local name: Fenugreek/ Methi	One teaspoonful of seed powder is mixed in 200 ml hot water, kept overnight, and taken in the morning before food, daily for a month to reduce blood glucose level (Hazarika et al., 2020).	Fenugreek saponins (Petit et al., 1995) along with 4-hydroxy isoleucine (Sauvaire et al., 1998), and trigonelline (Raghuram et al., 1994) have been narrated to reduce the elevated blood glucose level. It has a high- fiber content (Ali et al., 1995).	Seeds have insulin-stimulating properties and are described in the Greek and Latin pharmacopeia for the treatment of diabetes (Kaczmar, 1998) Studies on different experimental models of alloxan-induced diabetic rats (Kumar et al., 2012), and human trials have deciphered those seeds of fenugreek for strong antidiabetic prop- erties (Sharma et al., 1990; Roberts, 2011)
26	Vitex negundo L. Fam.: Verbenaceae Local name: Nirgunda	The warm water extract of leaves is given on empty stomach in the morning by traditional healers to reduce glucose levels (Hazarika et al., 2020).	Stilbene derivatives, flavones, diterpenes, triterpenes, sesquiterpenes, flavonoids, lignan, and glycosides (Singh et al., 2020), and sixty-five volatile compounds have been reported from leaves (Rana et al., 1999).	Pharmacological investigations have revealed that both aqueous and ethanolic extracts of leaves of <i>V. negundo</i> possess antidiabetic properties in alloxan-induced diabetic rats (Raja et al., 2012).

Table 1 (continued)

			-		
S No.	Used plant species	Traditional/folk procedure	Biological action		
			Active ingredients	Molecular interactions, and impacts	
27	Withania somnifera (L.) Dunal. Fam.: Solanaceae Local name: Ashwagandha	50 gm of fresh leaves are extracted in 200 ml water and kept for a whole night. In the morning before breakfast 50 ml of it is given daily to treat diabetes (Bhattacharya et al., 1997).	Ashwagandhine, tropine, mesoanaferine, somniferine, choline, withanine; withananine, withasomnine, visamine, withanolides, and pseudo-withanine (Saleem et al., 2020).	Molecular investigations have also supported the traditional applications of <i>W.</i> <i>somnifera</i> to treat T2DM in streptozotocin- induced diabetic rats (Bhattacharya et al., 1997).	
28	Zingiber officinale Rosc. Fam.: Zingiberaceae Local name: Adarak / Ginger	Warm water extract of rhizome has been advised for regular intake to maintain the normal blood glucose level (Nammi et al., 2009; Yiming et al., 2012).	Citronellyl-n-butyrate, zingiberene, valencene, and β -phellandrene are the major constituents of volatile oils of rhizomes of Indian origin (Sharma et al., 2016).	Various pharmacological studies have supported the traditional intake of Z. officinale extract to decrease blood glucose levels in type 1 and type 2-diabetic conditions caused by high-fat diets and metabolic disorders (Nammi et al., 2009; Yiming et al., 2012).	

all animals were found safe, and healthy during the study (Umamageswari et al., 2017) but berries are to be studied for a new source of tisane to manage T2DM.

Consumption of the Indian traditional tisane improves digestion and mental relaxation and prevents several fatal diseases to other body ailments. Hardly, there are many medical issues due to a slight overdose of it. Addition of a small quantity of a food-grade lowcalorie natural sweetener as a crystal of rebaudioside A or using a part of Stevia rebaudiana leaf in a cup full of taste, the tisane turns sweeter. Rebaudioside A is isolated from the S. rebaudiana leaves which are highly water soluble and 200 times sweeter than sucrose, and stable up to 200 °C (Lemus-Mondaca et al., 2012; Wozniak et al., 2014).

3.2. Standardized specification

The extract of S. cumini fruit pulp collected from India stimulates insulin secretion within 30 min of ingestion (Acherekar et al., 1995), however, the Brazilian S. cumini fruit pulp under similar experimental conditions has no physiological or metabolic changes (Pepato et al., 2005). Pepato et al (2005) have described these negative results are due to different chemical compositions associated with the biotic and abiotic factors of the harvested sites. Though, mango leaves have allergens (Sareen and Shah, 2011), limited to mango latex, or prior urushiol exposure (Goldstein, 2004), and can be checked following good collection and good storage practices properly, before processing for tisane.

M. oleifera leaves have been reported for *iso*-quercitrin, quercetin-3-O-(6-O-malonyl)- β -D-glucopyranoside, astragalin, niazirin, and rutin (Fantoukh et al., 2019; Fantoukh et al., 2021) along anti-nutritional ingredients (Adedapo et al., 2009; Gopalakrishnan et al., 2016; Kashyap et al., 2022; Sallau et al., 2012). Adedapo et al. (2009) reported a slight dullness in the animals at the onset of the administration of *M. oleifera* leaves extract. Though *M. oleifera* leaves are rich in anti-diabetic ingredients, and not used in traditional practices to normalize blood glucose levels, so detailed clinicopathological investigations including a percentage of anti-nutrients on *M. oleifera* leaves are needed for its utilization as modern green medicine against T2DM.

Compounds, namely ascorbic acid, β -carotene, β -sitosterol, *iso*-leucine, *iso*-quercetin, kaempferol, stearic acid, palmitic acid, oleic acid, quercetin, and tocopherols been acknowledged in more than one tisane (Table-1) discussed in the current study and reveals their potential role to normalize the elevated blood glucose level but the information on the concentration of each compound is scanty, a requirement to address these tisanes as a medicine for T2DM.

Indian traditional tisanes have high antioxidant potential and are a valuable source of different phytochemicals depending on the type of used plant part. Despite the growing consumer awareness of the pro-health properties and the declared health benefits of various tisanes, consumers primarily focus on their sensory preference, so bitter, tart, astringent or strong, sour taste limits the customer choice, so traditional sweeteners are losing the base.

4. Conclusions

The crystal cut identification of a particular bioactive compound or a major chemical class resulting in the potent antidiabetic effects, and its assay in the herb used as tisane is a major knowledge gap noted in the study. Further, the dose of each tisane is lacking, and the higher concentrations of bioactive compounds in tisane will have adverse effects on the human body. Additionally, the activity value (IC_{50}) of the active ingredient responsible to lower blood glucose levels will lead to a value-addition on tisane as a modern green beverage.

Herbs collected for tisane from the outside of the ancient Indian boundary need a comparative fingerprint investigation before utilizing them for Indian traditional tisane as in the case of S. cumini from Brazil. Studies on plant parts that are rich either in phenolics, anthocyanins, tannins, minerals, or vitamins, but not mentioned as tisane in traditional systems open a new vista for clinical research, pave a new avenue to explore these compounds for therapeutic effects and study the mechanism of its action. These studies may also lead to performing various metabolic, bacteriostatic, and antimicrobial activities, mitigating oxidative stress, being involved in the remedy of numerous body ailments, and finally to a potential source of cost-effective food supplements to improve human health and cure acute and chronic diseases. New herbs may be studied for future tisane and their synergistic action with Z. officinale, Urtica dioica, W. somnifera, etc. The innovative step will increase the health-promoting properties of tisane along with the more attractive taste and diversity of products for consumers. A total of 109 plant species have been investigated for molecular mechanisms out of 410 experimentally studied for their antidiabetic properties, so it needs a strategy to focus on other species to complete the knowledge gap. Specification for the final product and each ingredient with molecular quality assurance and validation of claims is a need to focus on international trade using intellectual property rights (IPRs), and geographical indication (GI) tags for tisane to manage T2DM.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Ethical approval

This article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors,

Informed consent

Consent has been obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

Authors are thankful to each organization for cooperation with us in collecting and extracting the data.

References

- Aali, N.S., Singh, K., Khan, M.I., Rani, S., 2010. Protective effect of ethanolic extract of Solanum nigrum on the blood sugar of albino rats. IJPSR 1, 97–99 10.13040/ IJPSR.0975-8232.1(9).88-96.
- Abdollahi, M., Zuki, A.B., Goh, Y.M., Rezaeizadeh, A., Noordin, M.M., 2011. Effects of Momordica charantia on pancreatic histopathological changes associated with streptozotocin-induced diabetes in neonatal rats. Histol Histopathol 26, 13–21. https://doi.org/10.14670/HH-26.13.
- Abu-Odeh, A.M., Talib, W.H., 2021. Middle East medicinal plants in the treatment of diabetes: A review. Molecules 26, 742. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/molecules26030742.
- Acherekar, S., Kaklij, G.S., Pote, M.S., Kelkar, S.M., 1995. Hypoglycemic activity of Eugenia jambolana and Ficus bengalensis: mechanism of action. In Vivo 5, 143– 147. PMID: 1768783.
- Adedapo, A.A., Mogbojuri, O.M., Emikpe, B.O., 2009. Safety evaluations of the aqueous extract of the leaves of *Moringa oleifera* in rats. Journal of Medicinal Plants Research 3 (8), 586–591 http://www.academicjournals.org/JMPR.
- Aderibigbe, A.O., Emudianughe, T.S., Lawal, B.A., 1999. Antihyperglycemic effect of Mangifera indica in rat. Phytother Res 13, 504–507. https://doi.org/10.1002/ (sici)1099-1573(199909)13:6<504::aid-ptr533>3.0.co;2-9.
- Adisakwattana, S., Lerdsuwankij, O., Poputtachai, U., Minipun, A., Suparpprom, C., 2011. Inhibitory activity of cinnamon bark species and their combination effect with acarbose against intestinal α-glucosidase and pancreatic α-amylase. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition 66 (2), 143–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-011-0226-4.
- Agnivesha, 2001. Prameha Chikitsa, Charak Samhita. Choukhambha Sanskrita Sansthan, Varanasi.
- Ajuwon, O.R., Ayeleso, A.O., Adefolaju, G.A., 2018. The potential of South African herbal tisanes, Rooibos and Honeybush in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Molecules 23, 3207. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23123207.
- Ali, B.A., Alfa, A.A., Tijani, K.B., Idris, E.T., Unoyiza, U.S., Junaidu, Y., 2020. Nutritional health benefits and bioactive compounds of *Mangifera indica* L (mango) leaves methanolic extracts. Asian Plant Res J 6, 41–51. https://doi.org/10.9734/APRJ/ 2020/v6i230126.
- Ali, L., Azad Khan, A.K., Hassan, Z., Mosihuzzaman, M., Nahar, N., Nasreen, T., Nur-e-Alam, M., Rokeya, B., 1995. Characterization of the hypoglycemic effects of *Trigonella foenum graecum* seed. Planta Med. 61, 358–360. https://doi.org/ 10.1055/s-2006-958100.
- Al-Malki, A.L., El-Rabey, H.A., 2015. The antidiabetic effect of low doses of Moringa oleifera Lam. seeds diabetes on streptozotocin induced diabetic nephropathy in male rats. BioMed Res Int 2015, doi: 381040. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/ 381040.
- Anonymous., 2022. Native Plants of PNW. An encyclopaedia of the cultural and natural history of Northwest native plants. Available from: http://nativeplantspnw.com/american-cranberrybush-viburnum-opulus/ [Assessed 23rd Sept.2022].
- Aoshima, H., Hirata, S., Ayabe, S., 2007. Anti-oxidative and antihydrogen peroxide activities of various herbal teas. Food Chemistry 103, 617–622.
- Arya, V., Gupta, R., Gupta, V.K., 2011b. Pharmacognostic and phytochemical investigations on *Pyrus pashia* Buch. -Ham.ex D. Don stem bark. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research 3, 447–456.
- Arya, R., Sharma, S.K., Singh, S., 2011a. Antidiabetic effect of whole plant extract and fractions of *Swertia chirayita* Buch.-Ham. Planta Med 77, 138. https://doi.org/ 10.1055/s0031-1273667.

- Asano, T., Deguchi, Y., Tuji, A., Makino, K., Takamizawa, K., 2007. Effect and safety of guava tea (Bansoureicha[®]) on borderline and mild hyperlipidemia. Jap J Nutr Assess 24, 599–605. In Japanese.
- Asmat, U., Abad, K., Ismail, K., 2016. Diabetes mellitus and oxidative stress- a concise review. Saudi Pharm J 24, 547–1543. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jsps.2015.03.013.
- Ayyanar, M., Subash-Babu, P., 2012. Syzygium cumini (L.) Skeels: a review of its phytochemical constituents and traditional uses. Asian Pac J Trop Biomed. 2, 240–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2221-1691(12)60050-1.
- Baba, H., Ohtsuka, Y., Haruna, H., Lee, T., Nagata, S., Maeda, M., Yamashiro, Y., Shimizu, T., 2009. Studies of anti-inflammatory effects of Rooibos tea in rats. Pediatr Int. 51, 700–704. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-200X.2009. 02835.x.
- Bagalkotkar, G., Sagineedu, S.R., Saad, M.S., Stanslas, J., 2006. Phytochemicals from *Phyllanthus niruri* Linn. and their pharmacological properties: a review. J Pharm Pharmacol 58, 1559–1570. https://doi.org/10.1211/jpp.58.12.0001.
- Baliga, M.S., Fernandes, S., Thilakchand, K.R., D'souza, P., Rao, S., 2013. Scientific validation of the antidiabetic effects of Syzygium jambolanum DC (black plum), a traditional medicinal plant of India. J Altern Complement Med. 19, 191–197. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2011.0752.
- Begum, S., Hassan, S.I., Ali, S.N., Siddiqui, B.S., 2004. Chemical constituents from the leaves of *Psidium guajava*. Nat Prod Res 18, 135–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 14786410310001608019.
- Bhattacharjee, S., Devi, R., 2021. A comprehensive review of *Garcinia pedunculata* Roxb. and its therapeutic potential. Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry 21, 3113–3143. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389557521666210217094152.
- Bhattacharya, S.K., Satyam, S.K., Chakrabarti, A., 1997. Effect of Trasina, an Ayurvedic herbal formulation, on pancreatic islet superoxide dismutase activity in hyperglycaemic rats. Indian J Exp Biol 35, 297–299. PMID: 9332177.
- Bisht, S., Sisodia, S.S., 2011. Assessment of antidiabetic potential of *Cinnamonum tamala* leaves extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Indian J Pharmacol 43, 582–585. https://doi.org/10.4103/0253-7613.84977.
- Bouche, C., Serdy, S., Kahn, C.R., Goldfine, A.B., 2004. The cellular fate of glucose and its relevance in type 2 diabetes. Endocrine Reviews 25, 807–830. https://doi. org/10.1210/er.2003-0026.
- Brownlee, M., 1996. Advanced protein glycosylation in diabetes and ageing. Ann Rev Med 46, 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.med.46.1.223.
- Builders, P.F., 2019. Introduction to herbal medicine. In: Builders PF editor. Herbal Medicine. Intech. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.78661.
- Byeon, J.O., Han, J.S., 2004. A study on perception and actual status of utilization for green tea. Korean Journal of Food Culture 19, 184–192.
- Cabrera, C., Artacho, R., Gimenez, R., 2006. Beneficial effects of green tea-A review. J Am Coll Nutr 25, 79–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2006.10719518.
- Calder, P.C., Carding, S.R., Christopher, G., Kuh, D., Langley-Evans, S.C., McNulty, H.A., 2018. holistic approach to healthy ageing: how can people live longer, healthier lives? J Hum Nutr Diet 31, 439–450. https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.12566.
- Castellanos-Jiménez, A.K., Reynoso-Camacho, R., Rocha-Guzmán, N.E., Corella-Madueno, M.A., Rios, E.A. de los, Salgado, L.M., 2022. Effect of herbal decoctions used in Mexican traditional medicine attenuate the adverse effects of a hypercaloric diet. Phytomedicine Plus 2, 100213. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.phyplu.2021.100213.
- Chakrabarti, S., Biswas, T.K., Rokeya, B., Ali, L., Mosihuzzaman, M., Nahar, N., Khan, A.K., Mukherjee, B., 2003. Advanced studies on the hypoglycemic effect of *Caesalpinia bonducella* F. in type 1 and 2 diabetes in long evans rats. J Ethnopharmacol 84, 41–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-8741(02)00262-3.
- Chakraborty, U., Das, H., 2010. Antidiabetic and antioxidant activities of *Cinnamomum tamala* leaf extracts in Stz treated diabetic rats. Global J Biotechnol Biochem 5, 12–28.
- Chandrasekar, S.B., Bhanumathy, M., Pawar, A.T., Somasundaram, T., 2010. Phytopharmacology of *Ficus religiosa*. Pharmacogn Rev 4, 195–199. https:// doi.org/10.4103/0973-7847.70918.
- Chandrasekara, A., Shahidi, F., 2018. Herbal beverages: Bioactive compounds and their role in disease risk reduction - A review. J Tradit Complement Med. 8, 451– 458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtcme.2017.08.006.
- Chaturvedi, P., 2012. Antidiabetic potentials of *Momordica charantia*: multiple mechanisms behind the effects. Journal of Med Food 15, 101–107. https://doi. org/10.1089/jmf.2010.0258.
- Chougale, A.D., Ghadyale, V.A., Panaskar, S.N., Arvindekar, A.U., 2009. Alpha glucosidase inhibition by stem extract of *Tinospora cordifolia*. J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem. 24, 998–1001. https://doi.org/10.1080/14756360802565346.
- Cohen, P., Ernst, E., 2010. Safety of herbal supplements: a guide for cardiologists. Cardiovascular Therapeutics 28, 246–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-5922.2010.00193. x.
- Covington, M.B., 2001. Traditional Chinese medicine in the treatment of diabetes. Diabetes Spectr 14, 154–159. https://doi.org/10.2337/diaspect.14.3.154.
- Craig, W.J., 1999. Health-promoting properties of common herbs. Am J Clin Nutr 70, 491–499. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/70.3.491s.
 Dasgupta, N., Muthukumar, S.P., Murthy, P.S., 2016. Solanum nigrum leaf: natural
- Dasgupta, N., Muthukumar, S.P., Murthy, P.S., 2016. Solanum nigrum leaf: natural food against diabetes and its bioactive compounds. Res J Med Plant 10, 181– 193. https://doi.org/10.3923/rjmp.2016.181.193.
- Deguchi, Y., Miyazaki, K., 2010. Anti-hyperglycemic and anti-hyperlipidemic effects of guava leaf extract. Nutrition & Metabolism 7 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1743-7075-7-9.
- Deguchi, Y., Osada, K., Chonan, O., Kobayahsi, K., Oohashi, A., Kitukawa, T., Watanuki, M., Ooni, M., Nakajima, K., Hata, Y., 2000. Effectiveness of consecutive ingestion and excess intake of guava leaves tea in human volunteers. J Jap Counc Adv Food Ingredients Res 1, 19–28. In Japanese.

D.D. Joshi, L. Deb, B.G. Somkuwar et al.

- Deshmukh, T.A., Yadav, B.V., Badole, S.L., Bodhankar, S.L., Dhaneshwar, S.R., 2007. Antihyperglycaemic activity of petroleum ether extract of *Ficus racemosa* fruits in alloxan induced diabetic mice. Pharmacologyonline 2, 504–515.
- Devi, V.D., Urooj, A., 2008. Hypoglycemic potential of *Morus indica* L. and *Costus igneus* Nak.: a preliminary study. Indian J Exp Biol. 46, 614–616. PMID: 18814491.
- Dey, L., Anoja, S.A., Yuan, C.S., 2002. Alternative therapies for type 2 diabetes. Alternative Med Rev 7, 45–58. PMID: 11896745.
- Dhaliwal, K.S., 1999. Method and composition for treatment of diabetes. US Patent 5886029.
- Dholi, S.K., Raparla, R., Mankala, S.K., Nagappan, K., 2011. Invivo Antidiabetic evaluation of Neem leaf extract in alloxan induced rats. Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science 1, 100–105.
- Dixit, A.K., 2014. Review of flora of anti-diabetic plants of Puducherry UT. Intern J Appl Biolo Pharma Technol 2, 455–462.
- Du, W.H., Peng, S.M., Liu, Z.H., Shi, L., Tan, L.F., Zou, X.Q., 2012. Hypoglycemic effect of the water extract of Pu-erh tea. J Agric Food Chem 60, 10126–10132.
- Elavarasi, S., Saravanan, K., 2012. Ethnobotanical study of plants used to treat diabetes by tribal people of Kolli Hills, Namakkal District Tamilnadu, Southern India. Int J Pharm Tech Res 4, 404–411.
- Elgawish, A., Glomb, M., Friendlander, M., Monnier, V.M., 1996. Involvement of hydrogen peroxide in collagen crosslinking by high glucose in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem 271, 12964–12971. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.271.22.12964.
- El-Tantawy, W.H., Temraz, A., 2018. Management of diabetes using herbal extracts: review. Arch Physiol Biochem 124, 383–389. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 13813455.2017.1419493.
- Eruygur, N., Dural, E., 2019. Determination of 1-deoxynojirimycin by a developed and validated HPLC-FLD method and assessment of in-vitro antioxidant, αamylase and α-glucosidase inhibitory activity in mulberry varieties from Turkey. Phytomedicine 53, 234–1232. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.phymed.2018.09.016.
- Ezike, A.C., Akah, P.A., Okoli, C.C., Okpala, C.B., 2010. Experimental evidence for the antidiabetic activity of *cajanus cajan* leaves in rats. J Basic Clin Pharm 1, 81-84. PMID: 24825970; PMCID: PMC3979181.
- Fantoukh, O.I., Albadry, M.A., Parveen, A., Hawwal, M.F., Majrashi, T., Ali, Z., Khan, S. I., Chittiboyina, A.G., Khan, I.A., 2019. Isolation, synthesis, and drug interaction potential of secondary metabolites derived from the leaves of miracle tree (*Moringa oleifera*) against CYP3A4 and CYP2D6 isozymes. Phytomedicine 60,. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2019.153010 153010.
- Fantoukh, O.I., Wang, Y.H., Parveen, A., Hawwal, M.F., Al-Hamoud, G.A., Ali, Z., Chittiboyina, A.G., Khan, I.A., 2021. Profiling and quantification of the key phytochemicals from the drumstick tree (*Moringa oleifera*) and dietary supplements by UHPLC-PDA-MS. Planta Med 87, 417–427. https://doi.org/ 10.1055/a-1240-6186.
- Farias, R.A., Rao, V.S., Viana, G.S., Silveira, E.R., Maciel, M.A., Pinto, A.C., 1997. Hypoglycemic effect of trans-dehydrocrotonin, a nor-clerodane diterpene from *Croton cajucara*. Planta Med 63, 558–560. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-957766.
- Farooq, S., 2005. Medicinal plants- field and laboratory manual. Dehradun, International Book Distributers 40-42. ISBN-13: 978-8170893226.
- Fu, H.Z., Luo, Y.M., Li, C.J., Yang, J.Z., Zhang, D.M., 2010. Psidials A-C, three unusual meroterpenoids from the leaves of *Psidium guajava* L. Org Lett 12, 656–659. https://doi.org/10.1021/o19024869.
- Gaonkar, V.P., Hullatti, K., 2020. Indian Traditional medicinal plants as a source of potent Anti-diabetic agents: a review. J Diabetes Metab Disord 19, 1895–1908. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-020-00628-8.
- Gayathri, M., Kannabiran, K., 2008. Antidiabetic, and ameliorative potential of *Ficus bengalensis* bark extract in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Indian J Clin Biochem. 23, 394–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12291-008-0087-2.
- Gharsallah, K., Rezig, L., Msaada, K., Chalh, A., Soltani, T., 2021. Chemical composition and profile characterization of *Moringa oleifera* seed oil. South African Journal of Botany 137, 475–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sajb.2020.11.014.
- Ghorbani, A., 2017. Mechanisms of antidiabetic effects of flavonoid rutin. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 96, 305–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopha.2017.10.001.
- Ghosh, T., Maity, T.K., Singh, J., 2011. Antihyperglycemic activity of bacosine, a triterpene from *Bacopa monnieri*, in alloxan-induced diabetic rats. Planta Med 77, 804–808. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1250600.
- Giri, J., Sathidevi, T., Dushyanth, N., 1985. Effect of jamun sed extract on alloxan induced diabetes in rats. Journal of the Diabetic Association of India 25, 115-19. Available from: https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkposzje))/ reference/referencespapers.aspx?referenceid=528931 [Accessed on 10th Sept. 2022].
- Glugliano, D., Ceriello, A., Paolisso, G., 1996. Oxidative stress, and diabetic vascular complications. Diabet Care 19, 257–267. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/diacare.19.3.257.
- Gohil, T., Pathak, N., Jivani, N., Devmurari, V., Patel, J., 2010. Treatment with extracts of *Eugenia jambolana* seed and *Aegle marmelos* leaf extracts prevent hyperglycemia and hyperlipidemia in alloxan induced diabetic rats. Afr J Pharm Pharmacol 4, 270–275.
- Goldstein, N., 2004. The ubiquitous urushiols contact dermatitis from mango, poison ivy, and other poison plants. Hawaii Med J. 63, 231–235. PMID: 15485071.
- Gopalakrishnan, L., Doriya, K., Kumar, S., 2016. Moringa oleifera: A review on nutritive importance and its medicinal application. Food Science and Human Wellness 5, 49–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fshw.2016.04.001.

- Grover, J.K., Vats, V., Yadav, S., 2002a. Effect of feeding aqueous extract of *Pterocarpus marsupium* on glycogen content of tissues and the key enzymes of carbohydrate metabolism. Mol Cell Biochem 241, 53–59. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/a:1020870526014.
- Grover, J.K., Yadav, S.S., Vats, V.J., 2002b. Medicinal plants of India with anti-diabetic potential. J Ethnopharmacol 81 (1), 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(02)00059-4.
- Guariguata, L., Whiting, D.R., Hambleton, I., Beagley, J., Linnenkamp, U., Shaw, J.E., 2014. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 103, 137–149.
- Gupta, R.C., Chang, D., Nammi, S., Bensoussan, A., Bilinski, K., Roufogalis, B.D., 2017. Interactions between antidiabetic drugs and herbs: an overview of mechanisms of action and clinical implications. Diabetology & metabolic syndrome 9, 1–12.
- Hakim, Z.S., Patel, B.K., Goyal, R.K., 1997. Effect of chronic ramipril treatment in streptozotocin- induced diabetic rats. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol 41, 353–360.
- Hazarika, P., Pandey, B.K., Tripathi, Y.C., 2020. Traditional knowledge for antidiabetic herbs from Majuli Island (Assam), India. International Journal of Herbal Medicine 8, 47–58.
- Helmstadter, A., 2008. Syzygium cumini (L.) Skeels (Myrtaceae) against diabetes: 125 years of research. Pharmazie 63, 91–101. PMID: 18380393.
- Ishijima, S., Takashima, T., Ikemura, T., Izutani, Y., 2008. Gymnemic acid interacts with mammalian glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Mol Cell Biochem 310, 203–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-007-9681-5.
- Islam, M.Z., Cho, D., Lee, Y., 2020. Bioactive compounds and antioxidant capacity of tea infusion prepared from whole and ground medicinal herb parts. Journal of Food 18, 116–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/19476337.2019.1702104.
- Ismaeel, R.O., Usman, L.A., 2021. Chemical composition and antioxidant potential of leaf and rhizome essential oils from *Zingiber officinale* Roscoe var. colmondeleyi F.M. Bailey growing in Nigeria. Chemistry Africa 4, 753–778. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s42250-021-00257-5.
- Jaiswal, D., Rai, P.K., Kumar, A., Mehta, S., Watal, G., 2009. Effect of *Moringa oleifera* Lam. leaves aqueous extract therapy on hyperglycemic rats. J Ethnopharmacol 123, 392–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2009.03.036.
- Jakobek, L., Seruga, M., Medvidovic-Kosanovic, M., Novak, I., 2007. Antioxidant activity and polyphenols of aronia in comparison to other berry species. Agric Conspec Sci 72, 301–306.
- Jalil, A., Ashfaq, U.A., Shahzadi, S., Rasul, I., Rehman, S.U., Shah, M., Javed, M.R., 2013. Screening, and design of anti-diabetic compounds sourced from the leaves of neem (*Azadirachta indica*). Bioinformation. 9, 1031–1035. https://doi.org/ 10.6026/97320630091031.
- Jasmin, R., Ganesh, K.R., Rajaram, R., 2018. Probing the mechanism of the antidiabetic potential of terpenoids from *Elephentopus scaber L.*, an Indian ethanomedical plant in STZ diabetic rats In-vivo and in-silico analysis. Indian J Biochem Biophys 55, 384–388.
- Jayakumar, G., Ajithabai, M.D., Sreedevi, S., Viswanathan, P.K., Remeshkumar, B., 2010. Ethnobotanical survey of the plants used in the treatment of diabetes. Indian | Trad Knowl 9, 100–104.
- Jeeva, S., Sheebha, A., 2014. A review of antidiabetic potential of ethnomedicinal plants. Med Aromat Plants 3 (4), 1–8.
- Jha, S., Gupta, S.K., Bhattacharyya, P., Ghosh, A., Mandal, P., 2018. In vitro antioxidant and antidiabetic activity of oligopeptides derived from different mulberry (*Morus alba* L.) cultivars. Phacog Res 10, 361–367.
- Jiang, Y., Nie, WJ., 2015. Chemical properties in fruits of mulberry species from the Xinjiang province of China. Food Chem 2015 (174), 460–466. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.11.083.
- Joladarashi, D., Chilkunda, N.D., Salimath, P.V., 2014. Glucose uptake stimulatory activity of *Tinospora cordifolia* stem extracts in Ehrlich ascites tumor cell model system. J Food Sci Technol 51, 178–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-011-0480-3.

Joshi, P., Dhawan, V., 2005. Swertia chirayita-an overview. Curr Sci 89, 635–640.

- Kabir, Y., Shekhar, H.U., Sidhu, J.S., 2017. Phytochemical compounds in functional properties of mangoes. In: handbook of mango fruit; Wiley: Hoboken. Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 237–254.
- Kaczmar, T., 1998. Herbal support for diabetes management. Clin Nutr Insights 6, 1-4. Available from: http://www.acudoc.com/Diabetes.PDF [Accessed on 9th Oct. 2022].
- Kamusheva, M., Tachkov, K., Dimitrova, M., Mitkova, Z., Garcia-Saez, G., Hernando, M.E., Goettsch, W., Petrova, G., 2021. A systematic review of collective evidence investigating the effect of diabetes monitoring systems and their application in healthcare. Frontiers in Endocrinology 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fendo.2021.636959.
- Kanetkar, P., Singhal, R., Kamat, M., 2007. Gymnema sylvestre: a memoir. J Clin Biochem Nutr 41, 77–81. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.2007010.
- Karunanayake, E.H., Welihinda, J., Sirimanne, S.R., Sinnadorai, G., 1984. Oral hypoglycemic activity of some medicinal plants of Sri Lanka. J Ethnopharmacol 11, 223–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(84)90040-0.
- Kashikar, V.S., Kotkar, T., 2011. Indegenous remedies for diabetes mellitus. Int J Pharm Sci 3, 22–29.
- Kashyap, P., Kumar, S., Riar, C.S., Jindal, N., Baniwal, P., Guine, R.P.F., Correia, P.M.R., Mehra, R., Kumar, H., 2022. Recent advances in Drumstick (*Moringa oleifera*) leaves bioactive compounds: Composition, health benefits, bio accessibility, and dietary applications. Antioxidants 11, 402. https://doi.org/10.3390/ antiox11020402.
- Khan, N., Mukhtar, H., 2013. Tea and health: studies in humans. Current Pharmaceutical Design 9, 6141–6147.

- Khan, V., Najmi, A.K., Akhtar, M., Aqil, M., Mujeeb, M., Pillai, K.K., 2012. A pharmacological appraisal of medicinal plants with antidiabetic potential. J Pharm Bioallied Sci. 4, 27–42. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.92727.
- Khare, C.P., 2008. Indian medicinal plants: an illustrated dictionary. Springer, Berlin.
- Kirana, H., Agrawal, S.S., Srinivasan, B.P., 2009. Aqueous extract of *Ficus religiosa* Linn. reduces oxidative stress in experimentally induced type 2 diabetic rats. Indian Journal of Experimental Biology 47, 822–826.
- Kraujalyte, V., Leitner, E., Rimantas, P., 2012. Chemical, and sensory characterisation of aroma of Viburnum opulus fruits by solid phase microextraction-gas chromatography-Olfactometry. Food Chem 132, 717–1713. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.11.007.
- Kraujalyte, V., Venskutonis, P.R., Pukalskas, A., Cesoniene, L., Daubaras, R., 2013. Antioxidant properties and polyphenolic compositions of fruits from different European cranberrybush (*Viburnum opulus* L.) genotypes. Food Chem 141, 3695–3702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2013.06.054.
- Krawinkel, M.B., Keding, G.B., 2006. Bitter gourd (Momordica charantia): A dietary approach to hyperglycemia. Nutrition Reviews 64, 331–337. https://doi.org/ 10.1301/nr.2006.jul.331-337.
- Kubish, H.M., Vang, J., Bray, T.M., Phillips, J.P., 1997. Targeted over expression of Cu/ Zn superoxide dismutase protects pancreatic beta cells against oxidative stress. Diabetes 46, 1563–1566. https://doi.org/10.2337/diabetes.46.10.1563.
- Kulling, S.E., Rawel, H.M., 2008. Chokeberry (Aronia melanocarpa)- a review on the characteristic components and potential health effects. Planta Med 74, 1625– 1634. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0028-1088306.
- Kumar, P., Kale, R.K., Baquer, N.Z., 2012. Antihyperglycemic and protective effects of *Trigonella foenum graecum* seed powder on biochemical alterations in alloxan diabetic rats. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci. 16 (3), 18–27. PMID: 22957414.
- Lauricella, M., Emanuele, S., Calvaruso, G., Giuliano, M., D'Anneo, A., 2017. Multifaceted health benefits of *Mangifera indica* L. (mango): the inestimable value of orchards recently planted in Sicilian Rural Areas. Nutrients 9, 525. doi: 10.3390/nu9050525.
- Lemus-Mondaca, R., Vega-Gálvez, A., Zura-Bravo, L., Ah-Hen, K., 2012. Stevia rebaudiana Bretoni. source of a high potency natural sweetener: a comprehensive review on the biochemical, nutritional, and functional aspects. Food Chem 132, 1121–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.11.140.
- Li, Y., Wang, C., Huai, Q., Guo, F., Liu, L., Feng, R., Sun, C., 2016. Effects of tea or tea extract on metabolic profiles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a metaanalysis of ten randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 32, 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.2641.
- Lin, Y., Sun, Z., 2009. Current views on type 2 diabetes. J Endocrinol 204, 1-11.
- Lipinski, B., 2001. Pathophysiology of oxidative stress in diabetes mellitus. J. Diabetic. Complications 15, 203–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1056-8727(01) 00143-x.
- Liu, X., Xu, W., Cai, H., Gao, Y.T., Li, H., Ji, B.T., Shu, X., Wang, T., Gerszten, R.E., Zheng, W., Xiang, Y.B., Shu, X.O., 2018. Green tea consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes in Chinese adults: the Shanghai Women's Health Study and the Shanghai Men's Health Study. Int J Epidemiol 47, 1887–11886. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jie/dyy173.
- Maciel, M.A., Pinto, A.C., Arruda, A.C., Pamplona, S.G., Vanderlinde, F.A., Lapa, A.J., Echevarria, A., Grynberg, N.F., Côlus, I.M., Farias, R.A., Luna Costa, A.M., Rao, V.S., 2000. Ethnopharmacology, phytochemistry and pharmacology: a successful combination in the study of *Croton cajucara*. J Ethnopharmacol 70, 41–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(99)00159-2.
- Malalavidhane, T.S., Wickramasinghe, S.M., Perera, M.S., Jansz, E.R., 2003. Oral hypoglycemic activity of *Ipomoea aquatica* in streptozotocin induced, diabetic wistar rats and type II diabetics. Phytother Res 17, 1098–1100. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ptr.1345.
- Maniyar, Y.A., Umamageswari, M.S., Karthikeyan, T.M., 2012. Evaluation of antihyperglycemic activity of aqueous extract of leaves of *Solanum Nigrum* in alloxan induced diabetic rats. IJPBS 2, 312–319.
 Marles, R.J., Farnsworth, N.R., 1995. Antidiabetic plants and their active
- Marles, R.J., Farnsworth, N.R., 1995. Antidiabetic plants and their active constituents. Phytomedicine 2, 137–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0944-7113 (11)80059-0.
- Masud Parvez, G.M., 2016. Pharmacological activities of mango (*Mangifera indica*): a review. Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry 5, 1–7.
- Matteucci, E., Giampietro, O., 2000. Oxidative stress in families of type 1 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care 23, 1182–1186. https://doi.org/ 10.2337/diacare.23.8.1182.
- Mckay, D.L., Blumberg, J.B., 2002. The role of tea in human health: an update. J Am Coll Nutr 21, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/07315724.2002.10719187.
- McKay, D.L., Blumberg, J.B., 2006. A review of the bioactivity and potential health benefits of peppermint tea (*Mentha piperita* L.). Phytother Res 20, 619–633. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.1936.
- Medagama, A.B., 2015. The glycemic outcomes of cinnamon, a review of the experimental evidence and clinical trials. Nutrition Journal 14, 108. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12937-015-0098-9.
- Mediani, A., Abas, F., Maulidiani, M., Khatib, A., Tan, C.P., Ismail, I.S., Shaari, K., Ismail, A., Lajis, N.H., 2016. Metabolic and biochemical changes in streptozotocin induced obese-diabetic rats treated with *Phyllanthus niruri* extract. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 128, 302–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jpba.2016.06.003.
- Meo, S.A., Menon, A.N., Sheikh, S.A., Rouq, F.A., Mohmood, A., Hassan, A., Arain, S.A., 2015. Effect of environmental air pollution on type 2 diabetes mellitus. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences 19, 123–128.
- Mishra, S.B., Vijayakumar, M., 2014. Anti-hyperglycemic and antioxidant effect of Saraca asoca (Roxb. De Wilde) flowers in streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced

diabetic rats: a therapeutic study. J Bioanal Biomed S12, doi:10.4172/1948-593X.S12-003.

- Mishra, A.K., Singh, B.K., Pandey, A.K., 2010. In vitro-antibacterial activity and phytochemical profiles of *Cinnamomum tamala* (Tejpat) leaf extracts and oil. Rev Infect 1, -9. Corpus ID: 80739841.
- Modak, M., Dixit, P., Londhe, J., Ghaskadbi, S., Devasagayam, T.P.A., 2007. Indian herbs and herbal drugs used for the treatment of diabete. J Clin Biochem Nutr 40, 163–173. https://doi.org/10.3164/jcbn.40.163.
- Morton, J.F., 1987. Fruits of warm climates. Julia Morton Winterville North Carolina, Miami.
- Munyangi, J., Idumbo, M., Mupenda, B., et al., 2020. Five case reports on treatment of diabetes by Artemisia annua and Artemisia afra herbal tea. Pharm Pharmacol Int J 8 (2), 79–85. https://doi.org/10.15406/ppij.2020.08.00283.
- Muraki, I., Imamura, F., 2013. Fruit consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes: results from three prospective longitudinal cohort studies. BMJ 347, https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmj.f6935 f5001.
- Nammi, S., Satyanarayana, S., Basil, D.R., 2009. Protective effects of ethanolic extract of Zingiber officinale rhizome on the development of metabolic syndrome in high-fat diet-fed rats. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 104, 366–373.
- Nantitanon, W., Okonogi, S., 2012. Comparison of antioxidant activity of compounds isolated from guava leaves and a stability study of the most active compound. Drug Discov Ther 6, 38–43. PMID: 22460427.
- Nassar, M.I., Mohamed, T.K., El-Toumy, S.A., Garra, A.H., El-Kashak, W.A., Brouard, I., El-Kousy, S.M., 2011. Phenolic metabolites from *Pyrus calleryana* and evaluation of its free radical scavenging activity. Carbohydrate research 346, 64–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carres.2010.11.007.
- Naziroğlu, M., Cay, M., 2001. Protective role of intraperitoneally administered vitamin E and selenium on the antioxidative defense mechanisms in rats with diabetes induced by streptozotocin. Biol Trace Elem Res. 79, 149–159. https:// doi.org/10.1385/BTER:79:2:149.
- Nguyen, C.T., Lee, A.H., Pham, N.M., Do, V.V., Ngu, N.D., Tran, B.Q., Binns, C., 2018. Habitual tea drinking associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in Vietnamese adults. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr 27, 701–706. https://doi.org/10.6133/ apjcn.072017.08.
- Nicholson, J.A., Darby, T.D., Jarboe, C.H., 1972. Viopudial, a hypotensive and smooth muscle antispasmodic from Viburnum opulus. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 140, 457– 461. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-140-36479.
- Niedowicz, D.M., Daleke, D.L., 2005. The role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications. Cell Biochem Biophys 2005 (43), 289–1230. https://doi.org/ 10.1385/CBB:43:2:289.
- Nigam, M., Mishra, A.P., Adhikari-Devkota, A., Dirar, A.I., Hassan, M.M., Adhikari, A., Belwal, T., Devkota, H.P., 2020. Fruits of *Terminalia chebula* Retz.: a review on traditional uses, bioactive chemical constituents, and pharmacological activities. Phytother Res 34, 2518–2533. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6702.
- Oberlay, L.W., 1988. Free radicals and diabetes. Free Radic Biol Med 5, 113-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(88)90036-6.
- Ochiai, H., Ooka, H., Shida, C., Ishikawa, T., Inoue, D., Okazaki, R., 2008. Acarbose treatment increases serum total adiponectin levels in patients with type 2 diabetes. Endocr J 55, 549–556. https://doi.org/10.1507/ endocrj.k07e-107.
- Ogunwande, I.A., Olawore, N.O., Adeleke, K.A., Ekundayo, O., Koenig, W.A., 2003. Chemical composition of the leaf volatile oil of *Psidium guajava* L. growing in Nigeria. Flavour Fragr J 18, 136–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/ffj.1175.
- Ota, A., Ulrih, N.P., 2017. An overview of herbal products and secondary metabolites used for management of type two diabetes. Front Pharmacol 8, 436. https://doi. org/10.3389/fphar.2017.00436.
- Ozrenk, M., Gundogdu, N., Keskin, N., Kaya, T., 2011. Some physical and chemical characteristics of gilaburu (*Viburnum opulus* L.) fruits in Erzincan region. Igdir Univ. J Inst Sci Technol 1, 9–14.
- Pant, N., Jain, D.C., Bhakuni, R.S., 2000. Phytochemicals from genus Swertia and their biological activities. Indian J Chem 39, 565–586.
- Parasuraman, S., Thing, G., Dhanaraj, S., 2014. Polyherbal formulation: concept of Ayurveda. Pharmacogn Rev 8, 73–80. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-7847.134229.
- Pari, L., Saravanan, R., 2004. Antidiabetic effect of diasulin, an herbal drug, on blood glucose, plasma insulin and hepatic enzymes of glucose metabolism in hyper glycaemic rats. Diabetes Obes Metab 6, 286–292. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1462-8902.2004.0349.x.
- Park, S.J., Bae, Y.C., Choi, N.R., Ryu, S.Y., Kwon, Y.M., Joo, J.C., 2014. Clinical study on constitutional herbal tea for treating chronic fatigue. Journal of Pharmacopuncture 17, 55–60. https://doi.org/10.3831/KPI.2014.17.037.
- Parveen, A., Wang, Y.H., Fantoukh, O., Alhusban, M., Raman, V., Ali, Z., Khan, I.A., 2020. Development of a chemical fingerprint as a tool to distinguish closely related *Tinospora* species and quantitation of marker compounds. J Pharm Biomed Anal 178, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2019.112894 112894.
- Patel, P., Harde, P., Pillai, J., Darji, N., Patel, B., 2012. Antidiabetic herbal drugs-a review. Pharmacophore 3, 18–29.
- Patel, M.B., Mishra, S., 2011. Hypoglycemic activity of alkaloidal fraction of *Tinospora cordifolia*. Phytomed 18, 1045–1052. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.phymed.2011.05.006.
- Patil, K., Dhande, S., Kadam, V., 2013. Therapeutic Swertia chirata-an overview. Res J Pharmacogn Phytochem 5, 199–207.
- Pepato, M.T., Mori, D.M., Baviera, A.M., Harami, J.B., Vendramini, R.C., Brunetti, I.L., 2005. Fruit of the jambolan tree (*Eugenia jambolana* Lam.) and experimental diabetes. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 96, 43–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jep.2004.07.029.

- Perova, I.B., Zhogova, A.A., Cherkashin, A.V., Éller, K.I., Ramenskaya, G.V., 2014. Biologically active substances from European guelder berry fruits. Pharm Chem J 48, 332–339. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11094-014-1105-8.
- Petit, P.R., Sauvaire, Y.D., Hillaire-Buys, D.M., Leconte, O.M., Baissac, Y.G., Ponsin, G. R., Ribes, G.R., 1995. Steroid saponins from fenugreek seeds: extraction, purification, and pharmacological investigation on feeding behavior and plasma cholesterol. Steroids. 60, 674–680. https://doi.org/10.1016/0039-128x (95)00090-d.
- Phuwapraisirisan, P., Puksasook, T., Jong-aramruang, J., Kokpol, U., 2008. Phenylethyl cinnamides: A new series of α-glucosidase inhibitors from the leaves of *Aegle marmelos*. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters 18, 4956– 4958.
- Polka, D., Podsedek, A., 2019. Phenolics composition and antioxidant capacity of guelder rose fruit, flower, and bark extracts. Biotechnol Food Sci 83, 37–46 10. 34658/bfs.2019.83.1.37-47.
- Polka, D., Podsędek, A., Koziołkiewicz, M., 2019. Comparison of chemical composition and antioxidant capacity of fruit, flower, and bark of Viburnum opulus. Plant Foods Hum Nutr. 74, 436–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-019-00759-1.
- Ponnachan, P.T.C., Paulose, C.S., Panikkar, K.R., 1993. Hypoglycaemic effect of alkaloid preparation from leaves of *Aegle marmelos*. Amala Res Bull 13, 37–41 http://dyuthi.cusat.ac.in/purl/585.
- Poswal, F.S., Russell, G., Mackonochie, M., Maclennan, E., Adukwu, E.C., Rolfe, V., 2019. Herbal teas and their health benefits: a scoping review. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 74, 266–276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-019-00750-w.
- Prabhakar, P., Doble, M.A., 2008. Target based therapeutic approach towards diabetes mellitus using medicinal plants. Curr Diabetes Rev 4, 291–1208.
- Prabhakar, P., Kumar, A., Doble, M., 2014. Combination therapy: A new strategy to manage diabetes and its complications. Phytomedicine 2, 123–130.
- Prasad, K.N., Yang, B., Dong, X., Jiang, G., Zhang, H., Xie, H., Jiang, Y., 2009. Flavonoid contents and antioxidant activities from *Cinnamomum* species. Innov Food Sci Emerg Technol 10, 627–632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifset.2009.05.009.
- Prashanth, G.K., Krishnaiah, G.M., 2014. Chemical composition of the leaves of Azadirachta Indica Linn (Neem). International Journal of Advancement in Engineering Technology Management & Applied Sciences 1, 21–31.
- Raghuram, T.C., Sharma, R.D., Sivakumar, B., Sahay, B.K., 1994. Effect of fenugreek seeds on intravenous glucose disposition in non-insulin dependent diabetic patients. Phytotherapy Research 1994 (8), 83–86. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ptr.2650080206.
- Raja, P.P., Sivakumar, V., Riyazullah, M.S., 2012. Antidiabetic potential of aqueous and ethanol leaf extracts of *Vitex negundo*. International Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemical Research 2012 (4), 38–40.
- Rajalakshmi, R., Roy, A., 2016. β-cell regenerative efficacy of a polysaccharide isolated from methanolic extract of *Tinospora cordifolia* stem on streptozotocininduced diabetic wistar rats. Chem-Biol Interact 243, 45–53. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cbi.2015.11.021.
- Ramachandran, A., Snehalatha, C., Viswanathan, V., 2002. Burden of type 2 diabetes and its complications- the Indian scenario. Curr Sci 83, 1471–1476 http://www. jstor.org/stable/24108170.
- Rana, V.S., Dayal, R., Bartlet, J.P., 1999. Volatile constituents of Vitex negundo leaves. Planta Med 65, 580–592. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2006-960832.
- Rao, N.K., Srinivas, N., 2006. Antidiabetic and renoprotective effects of the chloroform extract of *Terminalia chebula* Retz. seeds in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. BMC Complement Altern Med 6, 17. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-6-17.
- Raphael, K.R., Sabu, M.C., Kuttan, R., 2002. Hypoglycemic effect of methanol extract of *Phyllanthus amarus* on alloxan induced diabetes mellitus in rats and its relation with antioxidant potential. Indian J Exp Biol 40, 905–909. PMID: 12597020.
- Ravikanth, K., Kanaujia, A., Thakur, D., Sharma, A., 2014. Nutritional constituents of the plants *Fumaria indica* and *Caesalpinia bonducella*. Int J Adv Pharm Biol Chem 3: 698-702.
- Ravikumar, C., 2014. Reviews on herbal Teas. J Pharm Sci & Res 6, 236-248.
- Ribeiro, S.M.R., Schieber, A., 2010. Bioactive compounds in mango (Mangifera indica L.). in: bioactive foods in promoting health; Elsevier BV: Oxford, UK; 507–523.
- Ritch-Krc, E.M., Thomas, S., Turner, N.J., Towers, G.H.N., 1996. Carrier herbal medicine: traditional and contemporary plant use. J Ethnopharmacol 52, 85–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(96)01392-X.
- Rizvi, S.I., Mishra, N., 2013. Traditional Indian medicines used for the management of diabetes mellitus. Journal of Diabetes Research 2013, Article ID 712092. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/712092.
- Roberts, K.T., 2011. The potential of fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum graecum*) as a functional food and nutraceutical and its effects on glycemia and lipidemia. J Med Food. 14, 1485–1489. https://doi.org/10.1089/jmf.2011.0002.
- Sabu, M.C., Kuttan, R., 2002. Anti-diabetic activity of medicinal plants and its relationship with their antioxidant property. J Ethnopharmacol 81, 155–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(02)00034-x.
- Sachdewa, A., Raina, D., Srivastava, A.K., Khemani, L.D., 2001. Effect of Aegle marmelos and Hibiscus rosa sinensis leaf extract on glucose tolerance in glucose induced hyperglycemic rats (Charles foster). J Environ Biol. 22, 53–57. PMID: 11480352.
- Saha, J., Mitra, T., Gupta, K., Mukherjee, S., 2012. Phytoconstituents and HPTLC analysis in Saraca asoca (Roxb.) wild Int J Pharm Sci 4, 96-9.
- Saleem, S., Muhammad, G., Hussain, M.A., Bukhari, S.N.A., 2020. Withania somnifera L.: Insights into the phytochemical profile, therapeutic potential, clinical trials,

and future prospective. Iran J Basic Med Sci 23, 1501–1526. https://doi.org/ 10.22038/IJBMS.2020.44254.10378.

- Sallau, B., Mada, S.B., Ibrahim, S., Ibrahim, U., 2012. Effect of boiling, simmering and blanching on the antinutritional content of *Moringa oleifera* leaves. Int J Food Nutr Saf 2, 1–6.
- Sanchez-Salcedo, E.M., Amoros, A., Hernández, F., Martínez, J.J., 2017. Physicochemical properties of white (*Morus alba*) and black (*Morus nigra*) mulberry leaves, a new food supplement. J Food Nutr Res 5, 253–1251. https:// doi.org/10.12691/jfnr-5-4-7.
- Sareen, R., Shah, A., 2011. Hypersensitivity manifestations to the fruit mango. Asia Pac Allergy. 1, 43–49. https://doi.org/10.5415/apallergy.2011.1.1.43.
- Sauvaire, Y., Petit, P., Broca, C., Manteghetti, M., Baissac, Y., Fernandez-Alvarez, J., Gross, R., Roye, M., Leconte, A., Gomis, R., Ribes, G., 1998. 4-Hydroxyisoleucine: a novel amino acid potentiator of insulin secretion. Diabetes. 47, 206–210. https://doi.org/10.2337/diab.47.2.206.
- Saxena, A., Vikram, V.K., 2004. Role of selected Indian plants in management of type II diabetes: a review. J Altern Complement Med 10, 369–378. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/107555304323062365.
- Senthil Kumar, G.P., Arulselvan, P., Kumar, D.S., Subramanian, S.P., 2006. Antidiabetic activity of fruits of *Terminalia chebula* on streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. Journal of Health Science 52, 283–291. https://doi.org/10.1248/ jhs.52.283.
- Sharma, R., Arya, V., 2011. A review on fruits having anti-diabetic potential. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research 3, 204–212.
- Sharma, S.R., Dwivedi, S.K., Swarup, D., 1997. Hypoglycemic, antihyperglycemic and hypolipidemic activities of *Caesalpinia bonducella* seeds in rats. J Ethnopharmacol 58, 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(97)00079-2.
- Sharma, P.C., Yelne, M.B., Dennis, T.J., 2005. Database on medicinal plants used in Ayurveda. New Delhi: Central Council for Research in Ayurveda and Siddha, Department of ISM & H, Ministry of Health, and Family Welfare (Govt. of India) 3, 76-87. OCLC Number / Unique Identifier:49331945.
- Sharma, R.D., Raghuram, T.C., Rao, N.S., 1990. Effect of fenugreek seeds on blood glucose and serum lipids in type I diabetes. Eur J Clin Nutr 44, 301–306. PMID: 2194788.
- Sharma, P.K., Singh, V., Ali, M., 2016. Chemical composition and antimicrobial activity of fresh rhizome essential oil of *Zingiber ofcinale* Roscoe. Pharmacog J 8, 185–190. https://doi.org/10.5530/pj.2016.3.3.
- Singh, U., Kocher, A., Boora, R., 2012. Proximate composition, available carbohydrates, dietary fibres and anti-nutritional factors in bael (*Aegle marmelos* L.) leaf, pulp and seed powder. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications 2, 1–4.
- Singh, Y., Mishra, P., Kannojia, P., 2020. Morphology, phytochemistry and pharmacological activity of *Vitex negundo*: an overview. Journal of Drug Delivery & Therapeutics 10 (3), 280–285 10.22270/jddt.v10i3-s.4173.
- Singh, S.S., Pandey, S.C., Srivastava, S., Gupta, V.S., Patro, B., Ghosh, A.C., 2003. Chemistry, and medicinal properties of *Tinospora cordifolia* (Guduchi). Indian J Pharmacol 35, 83–91.
- Singh, U.P., Singh, D.P., Singh, M., Maurya, S., Srivastava, J.S., Singh, R.B., Singh, S.P., 2004. Characterization of phenolic compounds in some Indian mango cultivars. Int J Food Sci Nutr 55, 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09637480410001666441.
- Singh, V.K., Umar, S., Ansari, S.A., Iqbal, M., 2008. Gymnema sylvestre for diabetics. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 14, 88–106. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10496470802341508.
- Soman, S., Rauf, A.A., Indira, M., 2010. Rajamanickam C. Antioxidant and antiglycative potential of ethyl acetate fraction of *Psidium guajava* leaf extract in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 65, 386–391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-010-0198-9.
- Srivastava, S., Kapoor, R., Thathola, A., Srivastava, R.P., 2006. Nutritional quality of leaves of some genotypes of mulberry (*Morus alba*). Int J Food Sci Nutr 57, 305– 313. https://doi.org/10.1080/09637480600801837.
- Studzinska-Sroka, E., Galanty, A., Gosciniak, A., Wieczorek, M., Kłaput, M., Dudek-Makuch, M., Cielecka-Piontek, J., 2021. Herbal infusions as a valuable functional food. Nutrients 13, 4051. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13114051.
- Sugihara, Y., Nojima, H., Matsuda, H., Murakami, T., Yoshikawa, M., Kimura, I., 2000. Antihyperglycemic effects of gymnemic acid IV, a compound derived from *Gymnema sylvestre* leaves in streptozotocin-diabetic mice. J Asian Nat Prod Res 2, 321–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/10286020008041372.
- Suksomboon, N., Poolsup, N., Boonkaew, S., Suthisisang, C.C., 2011. Meta-analysis of the effect of herbal supplement on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes. J Ethnopharmacol. 137, 1328–1333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2011.07.059.
- Sun, J., Ren, J., Hou, Y., Yang, Y., 2021. Therapeutic effects of Chinese herbal medicines and their extracts on diabetes. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 142,. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111977 111977.
- Swami, K.D., Bisht, N.P.S., 1996. Constituents of *Ficus religiosa* and *Ficus infectoria* and their biological activity. Journal of the Indian Chemical Society 73, 631. Corpus ID: 98985006.
- Tan, M.J., Ye, J., Turner, N., Hohnen-Behrens, C., Ke, C.Q., Tang, C.P., Chen, T., Weiss, H.C., Gesing, E.R., Rowland, A., James, D.E., Ye, Y., 2008. Antidiabetic activities of triterpenoids isolated from bitter melon associated with activation of the AMPK pathway. Chem Biol 15, 263–273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chembiol.2008.01.013.
- Tandon, N., Yadav, S.S., 2017. Contributions of Indian council of medical research (ICMR) in the area of medicinal plants/ traditional medicine. Ethnopharmacol 197, 39–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2016.07.064.

- Taylor, P., Pino, J.A., Agüero, J., Marbot, R., Fuentes, V., Pino, J.A., et al., 2001. Leaf oil of *Psidium guajava* L. from Cuba. J Essent Oil Res 13, 61–62. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10412905.2001.9699607.
- Tiwari, P., Mishra, B.N., Sangwan, N.S., 2014. Phytochemical and pharmacological properties of *Gymnema sylvestre*: An important medicinal plant. Biomed Res Int 2014, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/830285.
- Umamageswari, M.S., Karthikeyan, T.M., Maniyar, Y.A., 2017. Antidiabetic activity of aqueous extract of *Solanum nigrum* Linn berries in alloxan induced diabetic wistar albino rats. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research 11, FC16-FC19. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2017/26563.10312.
- Une, H.D., Pradip, S., Patave Tarannum, R., 2014. A study on the effects of Moringa oleifera Lam. pod extract on alloxan induced diabetic rats. Asian J Plant Sci Res 4, 36–41.
- Usharani, P., Mohammed, A.A., Srinivas, G., Chandrasekhar, N., 2020. Evaluation of the effect of an aqueous extract of *Azadirachta indica* (Neem) leaves and twigs on glycemic control, endothelial dysfunction and systemic inflammation in subjects with type 2 diabetes mellitus – A randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical study. Diabetes Metab Syndr Obes. 13, 4401–4412. https:// doi.org/10.2147/DMS0.S274378.
- Vats, V., Grover, J.K., Rathi, S.S., 2002. Evaluation of antihyperglycemic and hypoglycemic effect of *Trigonella foenum graecum* Linn, *Ocimum sanctum* Linn and *Pterocarpus marsupium* Linn in normal and alloxanized diabetic rats. J Ethnopharmacol 79, 95–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-8741(01)00374-9.
- Verma, A., Neerubala, S., Srivastava, B., 2016. Analysis of nutritional composition and anti-nutritional factors of fresh karmwa leaves (*Ipomoea aquatica*) and its product development. Int J Adv Res 4, 196–200. https://doi.org/10.21474/ IJAR01/1203.
- Wang, F., Wei, L.P., Zhang, Z., Feng, T., 2011. Research progress on polysaccharides hypoglycemic mechanism and therapeutic potential," 2011 5th International Conference on Bioinformatics and Biomedical Engineering 2011, 1-5. doi: 10.1109/icbbe.2011.5780159.
- Vuong, Q.V., 2013. Epidemiological evidence linking tea consumption to human health: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 54, 523–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10408398.2011.594184.
- Wang, X., Tian, J., Jiang, J., Li, L., Ying, X., Tian, H., Nie, M., 2014. Effects of green tea or green tea extract on insulin sensitivity and glycaemic control in populations at risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. J Hum Nutr Diet. 27, 501–512. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/jhn.12181.
- Wang, Z.Q., Zhang, X.H., Yu, Y., Poulev, A., Ribnicky, D., Floyd, Z.E., Cefalu, W.T., 2011b. Bioactives from bitter melon enhance insulin signaling and modulate acyl carnitine content in skeletal muscle in high-fat diet-fed mice. J Nutr Biochem. 22, 1064–1073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.09.004.
- Biochem. 22, 1064–1073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2010.09.004.
 Wargovichi, M.J., Woods, C., Hollis, D.M., Zander, M.E., 2001. Herbals, cancer prevention and health. J Nutr. 131 (11 Suppl), 3034S–S3036. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/131.11.3034S.
- Willcox, M.L., Elugbaju, C., Al-Anbaki, M., Lown, M., Graz, B., 2021. Effectiveness of medicinal plants for glycaemic control in type 2 diabetes: an overview of meta-

analyses of clinical trials. Front Pharmacol 26, (12). https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.777561 777561.

- Wojcik-Bojek, U., Rywaniak, J., Bernat, P., Podsedek, A., Kajszczak, D., Sadowska, B., 2021. An *in-vitro* study of the effect of *Viburnum opulus* extracts on key processes in the development of staphylococcal infections. Molecules 26, 1758. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules26061758.
- World Health Organization., 2013. WHO traditional medicine strategy 2014–2023; Available from: https://www.who.int/medicines/publications/traditional/trm_ strategy14_23/en/ [Accessed 28 July 2022].
- Wozniak, L., Marszalek, K., Skapska, S., 2014. Influence of steviol glycosides on the stability of vitamin C and anthocyanins. J Agric Food Chem. 62, 11264–11269. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf504001t.
- Wu, J., Shi, S., Wang, H., 2016. Mechanisms underlying the effect of polysaccharides in the treatment of type 2 diabetes: a review. Carbohydr Polym 2016 (144), 474–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.carbpol.2016.02.040.
- Yadav, P.N., Chanotia, C.S., 2009. Phytochemical and pharmacological profile of leaves of *Aegle Marmelos* Linn. The Pharm Review 9, 144–149.
- Yadav, P., Sarkar, S., Bhatnagar, D., 1997. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzymes in erythrocytes and tissues in aged diabetic rats. Indian J Exp Biol 35, 389–392. PMID: 9315241.
- Yang, R., Chang, L., Hsu, J., Weng, B.B.C., Palada, M.C., Chadha, M.L., Levasseur, V., 2006. Nutritional and functional properties of moringa leaves from germplasm to plant, to food, to health. Am Chem Soc., 1–17
- Yang, Y.C., Lu, F.H., Wu, J.S., Wu, C.H., Chang, C.J., 2004. The protective effect of habitual tea consumption on hypertension. Arch Intern Med 164, 1534–1540. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.164.14.1534.
- Yaniv, Z., Dafni, A., Friedman, J., Palevitch, D., 1987. Plants used for the treatment of diabetes in Israel. J Ethnopharmacol 19:145-1.
- Yiming, L., Van, H.T., Colin, C.D., Basil, D.R., 2012. Preventive, and protective properties of *Zingiber officinale* (ginger) in diabetes mellitus, diabetic complications, and associated lipid and other metabolic disorders: A brief review. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2012, https://doi.org/10.1155/ 2012/516870 516870.
- Yu, J., Song, P., Perry, R., Penfold, C., Cooper, A.R., 2017. The effectiveness of green tea or green tea extract on insulin resistance and glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Metab J 41, 251–262. https://doi. org/10.4093/dmj.2017.41.4.251.
- Zhang, H.M., Liang, F.X., Chen, R., 2015. Ancient records, and modern research on the mechanisms of Chinese herbal medicines in the treatment of diabetes mellitus. Evid Based Complement Alternat Medicine: eCAM 2015, https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2015/747982 747982.
- Zhang, L., Reddy, N., 2018. Bioactive molecules from medicinal herbs for life threating diseases. | Mol Sci 2, 1–11.
- Zhao, J., Deng, J.W., Chen, Y.W., Li, S.P., 2013. Advanced phytochemical analysis of herbal tea in China. J Chromatogr A. 1313, 2–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chroma.2013.07.039.